# Summer Abundance Estimates of Cetaceans in US North Atlantic Navy Operating Areas

by

Debra L. Palka

March 2006

#### **Recent Issues in This Series**

- 05-01 **Results from the 2004 Cooperative Survey of Atlantic Surfclams**, by J.R. Weinberg, E.N. Powell, C. Pickett, V.A. Nordahl, Jr., and L.D. Jacobson. February 2005.
- 05-02 **Proceedings of a Workshop to Review and Evaluate the Design and Utility of Fish Mark Recapture Projects in the Northeastern United States; October 19-21, 2004; Nonantum Resort, Kennebunkport, Maine**, by Workshop Organizing Committee (S. Tallack, editor, P. Rago, chairperson, T. Brawn, workshop coordinator, and (alphabetically) S. Cadrin, J. Hoey, and L. Taylor Singer. March 2005.
- 05-03 **Description of the 2004 Oceanographic Conditions on the Northeast Continental Shelf**, by M.H. Taylor, C. Bascuñán, and J.P. Manning. April 2005.
- **40th SAW Assessment Report**, by 40th Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop. April 2005.
- 05-05 Effectiveness of a Square-Mesh Escape Panel in Reducing Finfish Bycatch in a Small-Mesh Bottom Trawl Used in the Longfin Inshore Squid (*Loligo pealeii*) Fishery, by L. Hendrickson. June 2005.
- 05-06 Use of the Historic Area Remediation Site by Black Sea Bass and Summer Flounder, by M.C. Fabrizio, J.P. Pessutti, J.P. Manderson, A.F. Drohan, and B.A. Phelan. June 2005.
- 05-07 Benthic Macrofauna and Associated Hydrographic Observations Collected in Newark Bay, New Jersey, between June 1993 and March 1994, by L.L. Stehlik, S.J. Wilk, R.A. Pikanowski, D.G. McMillan, and E.M. MacHaffie. July 2005.
- 05-08 Mortality and Serious Injury Determinations for Large Whale Stocks along the Eastern Seaboard of the United States, 1999-2003. By T.V.N. Cole, D.L. Hartley, and R.L. Merrick. July 2005.
- 05-09 **NEFSC Bycatch Estimation Methodology: Allocation, Precision, and Accuracy**, by P.J. Rago, S.E. Wigley, and M.J. Fogarty. August 2005.
- 05-10 **41st SAW Assessment Summary Report**, by 41st Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop. August 2005.
- 05-11 Expanding Opportunities in Oceanic and Atmospheric Sciences III: Proceedings of the Third National Conference to Strengthen the Links among HBMSCUs, NOAA, Business, and Graduate Studies in Marine and Atmospheric Sciences, by A. Jearld, Jr., and D. Peloquin, compilers. August 2005.
- 05-12 Total Bycatch Estimate of Loggerhead Turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the 2004 Atlantic Sea Scallop (*Placopecten magellanicus*) Fishery, by K.T. Murray. August 2005.
- 05-13 Assessment of 19 Northeast Groundfish Stocks through 2004: 2005 Groundfish Assessment Review Meeting (2005 GARM), Northeast Fisheries Science Center, Woods Hole, Massachusetts, 15-19 August 2005, by R.K. Mayo and M. Terceiro, editors. September 2005.
- **41st SAW Assessment Report**, by the 41st Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop. September 2005.
- 05-15 Economic Analysis of Alternative Harvest Strategies for Eastern Georges Bank Haddock [5Zjm; 551, 552, 561, 562], by E.M. Thunberg, D.S.K. Liew, C.M. Fulcher, and J.K.T. Brodziak. October 2005.
- 05-16 Northeast Fisheries Science Center Publications, Reports, and Abstracts for Calendar Year 2004, by L. Garner. October 2005.
- 05-17 Modification of Defined Medium ASP<sub>1</sub>, for Picoplankter *Aureococcus anophagefferens*, with Limited Comparison of Physiological Requirements of New York and New Jersey Isolates, by J.B. Mahoney. November 2005.
- 05-18 **Program Planning and Description Documents for the Northeast Fisheries Science Center, Its Component Laboratories, and Their Predecessors during 1955-2005**, by J.A. Gibson. December 2005.
- 05-19 Seasonal Management Area to Reduce Ship Strikes of Northern Right Whales in the Gulf of Maine, by R.L. Merrick. December 2005.
- 06-01 **42nd SAW Assessment Summary Report**, by the 42nd Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop. January 2006.
- 06-02 The 2005 Assessment of the Gulf of Maine Atlantic Cod Stock, by R.K. Mayo and L.A. Col. March 2006.

## Summer Abundance Estimates of Cetaceans in US North Atlantic Navy Operating Areas

by

## Debra L. Palka

Postal Address:National Marine Fisheries Serv., Woods Hole Lab., 166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543E-Mail Address:Debra.Palka@noaa.gov

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service Northeast Fisheries Science Center Woods Hole, Massachusetts

March 2006

## **Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Documents**

**This series is a secondary scientific series** designed to assure the long-term documentation and to enable the timely transmission of research results by Center and/or non-Center researchers, where such results bear upon the research mission of the Center (see the outside back cover for the mission statement). These documents receive internal scientific review but no technical or copy editing. The National Marine Fisheries Service does not endorse any proprietary material, process, or product mentioned in these documents.

All documents issued in this series since April 2001, and several documents issued prior to that date, have been copublished in both paper and electronic versions. To access the electronic version of a document in this series, go to *http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/series/crdlist.htm*. The electronic version will be available in PDF format to permit printing of a paper copy directly from the Internet. If you do not have Internet access, or if a desired document is one of the pre-April 2001 documents available only in the paper version, you can obtain a paper copy by contacting the senior Center author of the desired document. Refer to the title page of the desired document for the senior Center author's name and mailing address. If there is no Center author, or if there is corporate (*i.e.*, non-individualized) authorship, then contact the Center's Woods Hole Laboratory Library (166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026).

**This document's publication history** is as follows: manuscript submitted for review -- January 5, 2006; manuscript accepted through technical review -- March 10, 2006; manuscript accepted through policy review -- March 13, 2006; and final copy submitted for publication -- March 13, 2006. This document may be cited as:

Palka, D.L. 2006. Summer abundance estimates of cetaceans in US North Atlantic Navy Operating Areas. *U.S. Dep. Commer., Northeast Fish. Sci. Cent. Ref. Doc.* 06-03;41 p. Available from: National Marine Fisheries Service, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026.

#### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	v
Introduction	1
Methods	1
Field methods for shipboard surveys	1
Field methods for aerial surveys	3
Shipboard analytical methods	5
Aerial analytical methods	8
Results	. 11
Shipboard surveys	. 11
Aerial surveys	. 11
Joint aerial and shipboard abundance estimates	. 12
Discussion	. 12
References	. 13
	-

#### Tables

Table 1.	Statistics about each NE OPAREA stratum: area (/km <sup>2</sup> ) and track line length (km), by year and platform
Table 2	Dates and platform specifications of each survey 16
Table 3.	For each shipboard survey, the following were identified: ship, target species,
	searching tools, and height of the two platforms
Table 4.	From the 1998, 1999, and 2004 shipboard surveys, for each species group, estimates of the <i>ESHW</i> , its CV, and significant covariates as derived in the original abundance
	estimate analyses
Table 5.	Estimates of $g(0)$ for the upper and lower teams for the 1998, 1999, and 2004
	shipboard surveys as derived in the original analyses
Table 6.	From the 1998, 1999, 2002 and 2004 aerial surveys, for each species group, estimates
	of $g(0)_{leading}$ , and ESHW (in meters) and significant covariates
Table 7.	Summary of abundance estimates for all areas, years, and species
Table 8.	1998 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within
	each NE OPAREA stratum
Table 9.	1998 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within the
	Mid-Atlantic stratum
Table 10.	1999 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within
	each NE OPAREA stratum
Table 11.	1999 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each
	NE OPAREA stratum
Table 12.	2002 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each
	NE OPAREA stratum
Table 13.	2004 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within
	each NE OPAREA stratum
Table 14.	2004 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each
	NE OPAREA stratum

### Figures

Figure 1.	NE OPAREA, strata defined by Navy	35
Figure 2.	Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 1998 abundance surveys	36
Figure 3.	Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 1999 abundance surveys	37
Figure 4.	Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 2004 abundance survey	38
Figure 5.	Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 2002 aerial abundance	
	survey	39
Figure 6.	Diagram of how the circle-back technique was performed	40

## Appendix

а 1° т	0 1 1 1	1	1	1.40	1
Appendix I.	Original abundance	e estimates by v	vear and 1	platform	L
	onginal actination				-

#### ABSTRACT

The US Fleet Forces Command, Department of the Navy, contracted the consulting firm Geo-Marine, Inc. (GMI) to generate technical reports that provide marine mammal and sea turtle density estimates for Navy operating areas. Some of the needed density estimates are for areas off the northeast US coast, an area that has been surveyed by marine mammal abundance surveys conducted by the Northeast Fisheries Science Center. GMI requested my aid in preparing summer density estimates for the northeast operating areas (NE OPAREA) using data collected from 1998, 1999, 2002, and 2004. The Gulf of Maine Central and Offshore NE OPAREAs had the highest numbers of cetaceans, although the NE OPAREAs with the highest densities (abundance divided by area) were the Gulf of Maine North and Scotian NE OPAREAs (both in Canadian waters). Within US waters, the stratum with the highest density was the Gulf of Maine Central, followed by the Shelf Central, Shelf West, and Georges Bank Central strata. The strata with the lowest densities and lowest species diversity were the Mid-Atlantic and Georges Bank West strata. The 2004 estimates appear to be more representative of a springtime distribution or the transition between spring and summer distributions, while the 2002 and earlier estimates appear to be more representative of mid summer distributions.

#### INTRODUCTION

The US Fleet Forces Command, Department of the Navy, contracted the environmental consulting firm Geo-Marine, Inc. (GMI) to generate technical reports that provide marine mammal and sea turtle density estimates for Navy operating areas (OPAREAs). These density estimates will be used for the purposes of Navy environmental planning and compliance and will serve as the basis for future documentation under federal reporting requirements.

Some of the needed density estimates are for OPAREAs off the northeast US coast (NE OPAREAs), an area that has been surveyed by marine mammal abundance surveys conducted by the Northeast Fisheries Science Center (NEFSC). GMI requested my aid in providing survey data and in preparing summer density estimates for the NE OPAREA region. In response to this request, I re-analyzed data that were previously collected to estimate abundance of cetaceans detected within and beyond the NE OPAREAs (Figure 1; Table 1). The shipboard and aerial line transect data used in this analysis were collected during the summers of 1998 (Palka 2005a), 1999 (Palka 2000), 2002 (Palka 2005b; in review), and 2004 (Palka in review).

#### METHODS

#### Field methods for shipboard surveys

Shipboard data included in this analysis came from the NEFSC 1998, 1999, and 2004 abundance surveys (Figures 2 to 4). The 1998 and 2004 shipboard surveys (Table 2) covered similar areas: an area bounded to the south at the 37°N latitudinal line (off Chesapeake Bay, Virginia), to the north by Georges Bank (41°N), to the west at 74°W, and to the east at the US-Canadian EEZ line at 65° 30'W. This covered waters between approximately the 100 m and 4000 m isobaths. The original study area was divided into two strata defined by bio-geographic habitats: a shelf edge stratum and an offshore stratum that was offshore of the shelf and included the Gulf Stream. The shelf bio-geographic stratum is the sum of the following NE OPAREAs: Shelf West, Shelf Central, and Shelf East. The offshore bio-geographic stratum and the offshore NE OPAREA are similar. Saw-toothed transects were placed to cross the bathymetry gradient and were started at a random point within each stratum.

The 1999 shipboard survey (Table 2) covered shallow waters of the northern Gulf of Maine (to approximately the 100m depth contour), western Scotian Shelf and lower Bay of Fundy (Figure 3). The coastal sections of the Gulf of Maine Central NE OPAREA stratum was surveyed in 1999 by a ship, while the offshore section was surveyed by a plane (Figure 2; see more details about the aerial survey in the next section).

On all of the shipboard surveys, two visual observer teams on independent platforms simultaneously collected data. Data from both teams were needed to estimate g(0), the probability of detecting a group on the track line. Each team was comprised of three observers on duty and one observer at rest. Each platform had three observation stations. Observers changed stations every 30 minutes. Observers searched during daylight hours (usually 6 am to 6 pm with one hour off for lunch), when weather permitted (i.e., when Beaufort sea state conditions were

below five, and when there was at least 3.7 km of visibility). Observers searched the area between  $90^{\circ}$  on both sides of the transect line, and from the ship to the horizon.

Because the ships and target species differed between the three shipboard surveys, the locations of the platforms and searching tools also differed (Table 3). This was done to insure as many animal groups as possible were detected. In the lower density pelagic surveys (1998 and 2004), high-powered binoculars were used by two of the three observers on both teams, while the third on-effort observer searched using naked eye and also recorded the data from all the observation stations on that team. In the higher density coastal survey (1999), all observers on both teams used naked eye and recorded their own sightings.

On all three shipboard surveys, data collected included information on sightings, effort, and environmental factors. For each cetacean group detected, sightings data included time, ship's latitude and longitude, bearing between the transect line and line of sight to the location of the group, radial distance between the ship and the center of the group, species composition, group size (best high and low estimate), swim direction ( $0^{\circ}$  indicates swimming parallel to the track line in the direction the ship was traveling,  $90^{\circ}$  indicates swimming perpendicular to the track line and towards the right, etc.), behavior (swimming, charging, milling, etc.), and cue (factor that attracted the observer to the group: body, splash, blow, etc.). When binoculars were used, bearings were measured using angle rings around the tripod-mounted binoculars and radial distances were measured using reticles in the eyepiece of the binoculars. When naked eye was used, bearings were measured using calibrated polaruses that were mounted in front of each observer, and radial distances were estimated visually. All observers were trained and tested to ensure accurate radial distances. The "best" estimate for group size was used in the abundance estimates because this value was the result of assessing the group size as often as possible as the group passed by the ship. Species were identified to the lowest taxonomic level possible. When not possible to reliably distinguish an animal to the species level, species groupings were used, such as, pilot whale spp., which could be either a short-finned (*Globicephala macrorhynchus*) or long-finned (G. melas) pilot whale. Another example is, unidentified dolphin, which could be any dolphin species. Groups identified to a level with the word "unidentified" were included in abundance estimates that were separate from abundance estimates derived from groups identified to a specific species. Therefore, all abundance estimates of a specific species are negatively biased because an unknown proportion of groups of that species were detected but were included in the unidentified abundance estimate.

When high-powered binoculars were used (1998 and 2004), it was not always possible to confirm the species identification or group size. For many of the unidentified groups within about 5.5 km (3 nautical miles) of the ship, the ship went off-effort and approached the group to a distance from which it was possible to confirm the identification and group size. When a group was approached, both teams were off-effort, so any additional sightings were not recorded. On-effort sightings were resumed when the ship was back on the original track line. When naked eye was used, the ship did not go off-effort to identify species.

At the beginning of each track line segment (called a leg) and when conditions changed, effort and environmental data were collected. These data included: time, observer at each observation station, ship's position (latitude and longitude), ship's speed and course, wind speed and direction, water depth, surface temperature, air temperature, swell height and direction (relative to the ship's track line), Beaufort sea state (0 to 4.9 in 0.1 increments), direction of sun (relative to the ship's track line), magnitude of glare (none, slight, moderate, and excessive), and distance with clear visibility.

#### Field methods for aerial surveys

Aerial data included in this analysis came from the NEFSC 1998, 1999, 2002, and 2004 summer abundance surveys (Figures 2 to 5). All of these aerial surveys were conducted on the NOAA DeHavilland Twin Otter DHC-6, Series 300 aircraft (Table 2). The portion of the study area covered by all the aerial surveys extended from waters south of Rhode Island, northward through the Gulf of Maine to the lower Bay of Fundy and to Scotian waters south of Nova Scotia. The 1998 and 2004 aerial surveys also covered shelf waters along the Mid-Atlantic states of New York to Virginia. The original aerial survey study areas were divided into bio-geographic habitat strata: a southern region below Long Island, NY (Mid-Atlantic NE OPAREA), a central region consisting of Georges Bank (NE OPAREAs Georges East, Georges Central, and Georges West), and a northern region consisting of the Gulf of Maine, lower Bay of Fundy, and southern Scotian shelf (NE OPAREAs Gulf of Maine (GOM) south, GOM central, GOM north, and Scotian).

During all surveys, track lines were flown 182 m (600 feet) above the water surface, at about 200 km/hr (110 knots), when Beaufort sea state conditions were below four, and when there was at least 3.7 km (2 nmi) of visibility. During all surveys, there were two pilots and five scientists onboard. Three scientists were observers searching for animals using the naked eye; the fourth scientist was at rest; and the fifth scientist recorded the data. The recorder worked at this position for the entire survey. The other four scientists rotated between the three observation stations and the rest station. Rotations occurred at the end of track lines or about every 30-40 minutes. Two observers, located behind the pilots, looked through side-viewing large bubble windows, where one observer was on each side of the plane. The third observer was at the back of the plane lying on the ground to look through a belly window. The belly window observer was limited to approximately a 28° view on both sides of the track line. The bubble window observers concentrated searching from straight down (0°) up to about 45° from the track line; the area from 45° to the horizon (90°) was also searched, though less frequently. Handheld binoculars were available to confirm species identifications and group sizes, if desired.

During all surveys, when an animal group was observed the following data were collected: time group passed perpendicular to the window; species identification; group size; angle of declination from the track line (measured by inclinometers or marks on the windows); cue (animal, splash, blow, footprint, birds, vessel/gear, windrows, or other); swim direction (0° indicates swimming parallel to the track line in the direction the plane was flying, 90° indicates swimming perpendicular to the track line and towards the right, etc.); if the animal appeared to react to the plane (yes or no); if the animal was diving (yes or no), and; comments, if any.

At the beginning of each leg and when conditions changed, the following data were collected: initials of persons in the two pilot seats and three observation stations; Beaufort sea state (0 to 3.9 in 0.1 increments); water color (deep blue, blue, greenish blue, green, light green, yellowish green, yellow green, green yellow, greenish yellow, or yellow); percentage of cloud cover (0-

100%); angle glare started and ended at  $(0-359^{\circ})$ , where  $0^{\circ}$  was the track line in the direction of flight and  $90^{\circ}$  was directly abeam to the right side of the track line, etc.); magnitude of glare (none, slight, moderate, and excessive); and subjective overall quality for each observer (excellent, good, moderate, fair, and poor). Data collected in poor conditions were not used in the abundance estimate.

To estimate g(0), the Hiby circle-back data collection method (Hiby 1999) was used for harbor porpoise sightings only during the 1998 survey, and for all species after that. The aerial Hiby circle-back method is comparable to the two-team shipboard method. Both methods result in data used to estimate g(0). The circle-back method modified standard single-plane line-transect methods by circling back and re-surveying a portion of the track line (Figure 6). The portions of track lines that were re-surveyed were called "trailing" legs. The portions of the track lines that initiated a circle were called "leading" legs, and the portions of the track lines that were between the end of a trailing leg and the beginning of the subsequent leading leg were called "singleplane" legs. As in the case of two teams on a ship, g(0) can be estimated using the aerial data collected during the leading and trailing legs, as they are comparable to data collected by two teams. That is, data collected on trailing legs corresponded to data from a second team, data collected on leading legs corresponded to data from a second team was oneffort, and data collected on single-plane legs corresponded to data collected by the primary team when the second team was off-effort.

For starting a circle, the criterion was a small group ( $\leq 5$  animals) of cetaceans or turtles that was the only sighting of the same species within a 30-second time period. The circle-back procedure was as follows (Figure 4):

- 1. Time and location of an initial sighting when it passed abeam of the plane was recorded and started a 30-second timer (Point 1 in Figure 6),
- 2. During the 30 seconds, additional sightings were recorded. If more than one additional sighting of the same species that triggered the circle was recorded during this 30 seconds, then the circle-back procedure was aborted, because the density may be too high to accurately determine if a group of animals was the same group on both the leading and trailing legs of the track line.
- 3. At the end of the 30 seconds, if the criterion in number 2 was passed, the plane started to circle back and the observers went off-effort. The time leaving the track line was recorded, which also started another timer for 120 seconds (Point 2 in Figure 6).
- 4. During this 120 seconds the plane circled back 180° and traveled parallel to the original track line about 1.5 km (0.8 nmi) away, in the opposite direction, and on either side of the original track line.
- 5. At the end of the 120 seconds, the plane started to fly back to the track line (Point 3 in Figure 6).
- 6. When the plane intercepted the original track line, the time was recorded, observers went back on-effort, they started searching again, and a 5-minute timer was started (Point 4 in Figure 6).
- 7. All sightings were then recorded.

8. The circle-back procedure was not initiated again until a sighting was made after the 5minute timer expired (Point 5 in Figure 6). This was to ensure forward progress on the track line.

#### Shipboard analytical methods

In the original analyses for 1998, 1999, and 2004 shipboard data, abundance estimates were calculated for large bio-geographic habitat strata (Palka 2000; 2005a; in review). The 1998 and 2004 data, collected while surveying with high-powered binoculars, were investigated to determine if animals responded to the ship. To estimate the abundance for those species that demonstrated responsive movements, the Palka-Hammond analytical method (Palka & Hammond 2001) was used. To estimate the abundance of all other species, the direct-duplicate method (Palka 1995) was used. Covariates were investigated to determine if any can improve the detection function of the 1998 (Palka 2005) and 2004 data (Palka in review).

To estimate abundance within the smaller NE OPAREA strata, the survey track line and sighting data were first divided into the NE OPAREA strata. Track line lengths, sighting rates and average group sizes within each NE OPAREA stratum were then calculated using only the data with a NE OPAREA. Using the direct-duplicate method (Palka 1995), the abundance  $(N_{il})$  for species l (within species group j) from NE OPAREA stratum i was then estimated as the product of the density  $(D_{il})$  and area  $(A_i)$  of stratum i:  $N_{il} = D_{il} \bullet A_i$ . Density  $(D_{il})$ , was calculated as:

$$D_{il} = \frac{D_{il.upper} \cdot D_{il.lower}}{D_{il.dup}} \tag{1}$$

where

$$D_{upper}$$
 = density, assuming  $g(0) = 1$ , using only the upper team's data in Eq. 2;  
 $D_{lower}$  = density, assuming  $g(0) = 1$ , using only the lower team's data in Eq. 2;  
 $D_{dup}$  = density, assuming  $g(0) = 1$ , using only duplicate sighting's data in Eq. 2.

and

$$D_{ilk} = \frac{n_{ilk} \cdot E(s)_{ilk}}{2 \cdot L_i \cdot ESHW_{jk}}$$
(2)

where

- n = number of groups detected;
- E(s) = expected group size;
- L = length of transect line while on-effort;
- *ESHW* = Effective Strip Half Width;

= inverse of the sighting probability density at zero perpendicular distance using data with a perpendicular distance of less than or equal to w;

- *w* = maximum perpendicular distance used in analysis;
- k = team: *upper*=upper team, *lower*=lower team, *dup* = duplicate sightings;
- j = species group;
- l =species;
- I = stratum.

Duplicate sightings were defined as groups seen by both the upper and lower teams, though not necessarily at exactly the same time. During the analysis phase, the duplicate sightings were determined by a computer program that compared the position of sightings detected by each team. Timing, swim direction, and species identification were taken into account when comparing the position of a sighting from one team to the predicted position of previous sightings from the other team.

Species groups (*j*) were defined as an individual species when there were a sufficient number of sightings for an individual species. This occurred for offshore bottlenose dolphins, common dolphins, Risso's dolphins, white-sided dolphins, harbor porpoises, humpback whales (during 1999 only), minke whales, right whales, and sperm whales (Table 4). A species group was defined as several species pooling together when it was not possible to distinguish the species while in the field, and/or there were an insufficient number of sightings per individual species, and the species within a species group had similar behaviors and so approximately equal chances of being detected. This occurred for pilot whales (pooled short-finned and long-finned pilot whales); cryptic whales (pooled beaked whales and Kogia spp.); and pelagic dolphins (pooled spotted, spinner, and striped dolphins). During 1998 and 1999, "large whales" was defined as pooling fin whales, sei whales, and animals identified as either fin or sei whales. During 2004, "large whales" was defined as pooling humpback whales, fin whales, sei whales, animals identified as either a fin or sei whale, and animals identified as an unknown large whale. Pilot whales and beaked whales were pooled because it was not always possible to positively identify the species. The other species groups were formed because of insufficient sample sizes of each individual species.

During 1998 and 2004, because binoculars were used, the angle and radial distances could have been rounded when recorded (Palka in review). If present, to correct for rounding error, recorded values were smeared using Method 2 of Buckland and Anganuzzi (1988) before further analyses were conducted.

The *ESHW* for each species group l and team k (*ESHW*<sub>lk</sub>) was estimated in the initial analyses using data pooled over all bio-geographic habitat strata (Table 4). The 1998 and 2004 estimates of *ESHW* were corrected for heterogeneities by incorporating significant covariates into the detection function using the computer package DISTANCE 4 (Buckland *et al.* 2001). The 1999 data have not yet been investigated to determine if covariates improve the *ESHW* estimates. Model and covariate selection was based on minimum Akaike Information Criterion (AIC). The following animal-related covariates were investigated: group size, group behavior (swimming, porpoising, and charging), and initial cue (body, splash, and blow). The following survey-related covariates were investigated: observer experience level (highest sighting rate, intermediate sighting rate, lower sighting rate), Beaufort sea state (0 to 4.9 in 0.1 increments), and wind speed. The following covariates that could be either animal-related or survey-related were also investigated: sea surface water temperature (SST), bottom depth, and bottom slope. In addition, for the 2004 data, the time period the data were collected – time period 1 (23 June to 12 July 2004) versus time period 2 (16 July to 4 August 2004) – was also included as a covariate to investigate if the different sets of observers had an effect. A complete description of the covariates is in Appendix 1 of Palka (in review). Potential detection function models without covariates included the uniform with cosine adjustments, half-normal with polynomial or cosine adjustments. Potential detection function models with covariates included the hazard rate with polynomial or cosine adjustments and half-normal with polynomial or cosine adjustments.

Estimates of g(0) for each species group and team was determined in the initial analyses using data pooled over all bio-geographic habitat strata (Table 5). The 1998 and 2004 g(0) estimates included effects of covariates, when significant.

In cases of no duplicate sightings for a species group within a NE OPAREA, it was not possible to use Eq. 1. Instead, if within a NE OPAREA there were data from only one team, the abundance estimate for that NE OPAREA was the product of the abundance estimated from the data of the only team available and the species group-team-specific estimate of g(0) as determined in the original analysis. If within a NE OPAREA there were data from both teams, but no duplicates, then the abundance estimate was the sum of the upper and lower team-g(0)corrected abundance estimates.

It was assumed the best species abundance estimates were from the larger bio-geographic habitat strata analysis and not the smaller NE OPAREA strata analysis. Because the NE OPAREA strata were subsets of the bio-geographic habitat strata, it was possible to correct the NE OPAREA stratum-specific abundance estimates so that the sum of the abundance from all the NE OPAREA strata equaled the sum from the applicable bio-geographic habitat strata. That is, the best abundance within NE OPAREA stratum *i* for species l ( $BN_{il}$ ) was estimated as a proportion of the best abundance estimate derived from the bio-geographic habitat strata ( $N_{biogeo}$ ):

$$BN_{il} = \frac{N_{il}}{\sum_{i} N_{il}} \bullet N_{l \text{-biogeo}}$$
(3)

where  $N_{il}$  was estimated using Eqs. 1 and 2 and  $N_{j,biogeo}$  was estimated in the original analysis (Appendix I).

Coefficient of variations (CV) of the abundance estimates were determined using bootstrap resampling techniques (Efron and Tibshirani 1993). Portions of the track line within each NE OPAREA were re-sampled with replacement, so that the track line length within a NE OPAREA from a bootstrap iteration was approximated equal to the actual track line length within that NE OPAREA. The re-sampled portions of the track line were defined as "legs" of effort in which each leg was about 9.3 km (5 nmi) long, and all conditions (weather and position of observers) were similar. For each of the 1000 bootstrap iterations, the abundance estimate of each species within each stratum ( $BN_{il}^{boot}$ ) was estimated using the above equations. The CV of an abundance estimate within a stratum was:

$$CV(BN_{il}) = \frac{stdev(BN_{il}^{boot})}{BN_{il}}$$
(4)

#### Aerial analytical methods

Abundance estimates from the 1998, 1999, 2002, and 2004 aerial surveys were originally calculated using larger bio-geographic habitat strata (Palka 2000; 2005b; in prep). To estimate abundance within the smaller NE OPAREA strata, the survey data were first divided into the NE OPAREA strata, then track line lengths, sighting rates, and average group sizes within each NE OPAREA stratum were calculated.

Abundance of a species was calculated in a three-step procedure. First, abundance uncorrected for g(0) was estimated for each year using data collected during that year on the single-plane and leading (SL) legs (i.e., corresponding to a conventional single plane survey). Second, using only the 2002 and 2004 data, an estimate of  $g(0)_{leading}$  was derived from the data pooled over years collected by the "two teams;" that is, from the leading and trailing legs. Finally, to obtain an abundance estimate corrected for g(0) for all years,  $g(0)_{leading}$ , obtained in step 2 was applied to the abundance estimate derived from the SL legs obtained in step 1. That is, the same estimate of g(0) was applied to each year's data.

Because the criteria used to start a circle was the detection of a small group of animals ( $\leq 5$  animals), the estimate of g(0) was only applicable to groups of animals with  $\leq 5$  animals. Consequently, it was assumed the estimate of g(0) for group sizes of over five was one.

In summary, abundance from year y in stratum i of species l that belongs to species group  $j(N_{ily})$  was estimated as:

$$N_{ily} = N_{ilysmall.SL} + N_{ilylarge.SL}$$

$$= \left(\frac{n_{ilysmall.SL} \cdot E(s)_{ilysmall.SL}}{2 \cdot L_{iy.SL} \cdot ESHW_{jy.SL}} \bullet g(0)_{j.small.leading}\right) \bullet A_i + \left(\frac{n_{ilylarge.SL} \cdot E(s)_{ilylarge.SL}}{2 \cdot L_{iy.SL} \cdot ESHW_{jy.SL}}\right) \bullet A_i$$
(5)

where

ı <sub>small.SL</sub>	= number of groups $\leq$ 5 seen on the single and leading (SL) legs;
$\imath_{large.SL}$	= number of groups $> 5$ seen on the single and leading legs;
E(s) <sub>small.SL</sub>	= expected group size of groups $\leq$ 5 seen on the single and leading legs;
E(s) <sub>large.SL</sub>	= expected group size of groups $> 5$ seen on the single and leading legs;
$ESHW_{j.SL}$	= Effective half strip width of species group $j$ using data from the single-
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	plane and leading legs;
	= inverse of the sighting probability density at zero perpendicular distance
	using data with a perpendicular distance of less than or equal to w;
w	= maximum perpendicular distance used in analysis;

 $\begin{array}{ll} L_{SL} & = \text{ length of transect line while on-effort on the single and leading legs;} \\ A_i & = \text{ area of stratum } i \\ i & = \text{ stratum;} \\ j & = \text{ species group of which species } l \text{ belongs to;} \\ l & = \text{ species;} \\ y & = \text{ year: 1998, 1999, 2002 or 2004.} \end{array}$ 

and g(0) for all years, for species *l* that were in groups of size 5 or less when detected during the leading legs was estimated using data only from 2002 and 2004:

$$g(0)_{j.small.leading} = \frac{n_{lsmall.dup} \cdot ESHW_{j.trailing}}{n_{lsmall.trailing} \cdot ESHW_{j.dup}}$$
(6)

where

n <sub>small.dup</sub>	= number of groups $\leq$ 5 seen on both the leading and trailing legs;
<i>n<sub>small.trailing</sub></i>	= number of groups $\leq$ 5 seen on the trailing legs;
ESHW <sub>j.trailing</sub>	= Effective half strip width of species group $j$ using data from the trailing
	legs;
ESHW <sub>j.dup</sub>	= Effective half strip width of species group $j$ using data from the
	duplicate sightings seen during the leading and trailing legs;

Ideally, the estimates of E(s), ESHW, and g(0) would be estimated separately for each species. However, sample sizes were small, especially for those relatively rare species. Thus, estimates of g(0) and the ESHW were derived for groups of species, sometimes over years. (Table 6). Species groups were defined to meet the following criteria: include all species detected, have a sufficiently large sample size, and have similarities in the physical and behavioral attributes that affect the detectability of these animals. Three species groups were defined. One group consisted of only harbor porpoises. A second group was small cetaceans: common dolphins, bottlenose dolphins, white-sided dolphins, Risso's dolphins, pilot whales, and unidentified dolphins. The third group was large cetaceans: minke whales, fin whales, sei whales, right whales, humpback whales, beaked whales, and unidentified whales.

Using the computer package DISTANCE (version 4), the various *ESHW*s were estimated from a detection model of unbinned perpendicular distances. The perpendicular distances were right truncated, when appropriate. For the 2002 and 2004 data, the detection models accounted for heterogeneities by including significant covariates, where a significant covariate was a covariate that contributed to a significantly improved fit as defined by the AIC criterion. Choices of covariates included group size, initial cue (body of animal, splash, or blow), percent cloud cover (0 to 100), Beaufort sea state (0 to 3.9 in 0.1 increments), average subjective quality of the sighting conditions (excellent=1, good=2, moderate=3, fair=4, poor=5, in 0.1 increments), water color (deep blue, blue, greenish blue, green, light green, yellowish green, yellow green, green yellow, greenish yellow, or yellow) and species. Potential models without covariates included the uniform with cosine adjustments, half-normal with polynomial or cosine adjustments, and hazard-rate with polynomial or cosine adjustments.

the hazard rate with polynomial or cosine adjustments and half-normal model with polynomial or cosine adjustments.

It was assumed the best species abundance estimates were from the larger bio-geographic habitat strata analysis and not the smaller NE OPAREA strata analysis. Because the NE OPAREA strata were subsets of the bio-geographic habitat strata, it was possible to correct the NE OPAREA stratum-specific abundance estimates so that the sum of the abundance from all the NE OPAREA strata equaled the sum from the applicable bio-geographic habitat strata. That is, the best abundance within NE OPAREA stratum *i* for species l ( $BN_{il}$ ) was estimated as a proportion of the best abundance estimate derived from the bio-geographic habitat strata ( $N_{biogeo}$ ), as defined in Eq. 3.

The CVs of the abundance estimates were estimated using the delta method (Buckland *et al.* 2001). Bootstrapping such as was done for the shipboard data would have been preferred; however, the complications of having leading and trailing legs that have to be paired together made re-sampling the track lines difficult. Thus, the CV of the small and large abundance estimates within NE OPAREA stratum i for species l that was within species group j was estimated as:

$$CV(BN_{il.small.SL}) = \sqrt{CV^2(n_{il.small.SL}) + CV^2(\overline{s}_{il.small.SL}) + CV^2(ESHW_{j.SL}) + CV^2(g_{j.small}(0))}$$
$$CV(BN_{il.large.SL}) = \sqrt{CV^2(n_{il.large.SL}) + CV^2(\overline{s}_{il.large.SL}) + CV^2(ESHW_{j.SL})}$$
(7)

where

$$CV(\bar{s}_{il..SL}) = \frac{\sqrt{\sum_{m=1}^{n_{vi}} (s_{mi} - \bar{s}_{il..SL})}}{\frac{n_{vi}(n_{vi} - 1)}{\bar{s}_{il..SL}}}$$
(8)

 $s_{mi}$  equals the size of group *m* in stratum *i*, and  $n_{vi}$  equals the number of observations of species *l* within stratum *i*, and

$$CV(n_{il.LS}) = \frac{\sqrt{T \cdot \frac{p}{m=1} t_m \cdot \left(\frac{n_m}{t_m} - \frac{n}{T}\right)^2}}{n_{il}}$$
(9)

where there are *p* legs (track lines with no changes) within stratum *i*,  $n = \sum n_m$ ,  $T = \sum t_m$ ,  $t_m$  was the length of the *m*th track line, and  $n_m$  was the number of groups detected on the *m*th track line.

#### RESULTS

#### **Shipboard surveys**

The 1998 shipboard survey covered 4,270 km in the three Shelf strata and the Offshore stratum (Table 1). The 1999 shipboard survey covered 2,382 km in the Gulf of Maine North, Gulf of Maine Central, and Scotian strata. The 2004 shipboard survey covered 3,991 km of track lines in the three Shelf strata and the Offshore stratum.

As determined in the original analyses, two species demonstrated responsive movement. During the 2004 survey, Risso's dolphins avoided the ship. During the 1998 and 2004 surveys, pilot whales spp. were attracted to the ship.

Estimates of *ESHW* for each species group for the upper team, lower team, and duplicate sightings, as derived in the original analysis, were generally in the 1500 to 3000 m range for the surveys using high-powered binoculars (1998 and 2004; Table 4) and in the 200 to 1500 m range for the 1999 survey in which observers searched with naked eye. At least one covariate was found to be significant for at least one of the years for the detection function of all species investigated (Table 4). Group size, Beaufort sea state (or wind speed), and cue were the most commonly significant covariates.

As derived in the original analysis for the upper and lower teams, estimates of g(0) for harbor porpoises and beaked whales were the lowest (about 0.25), while some of the dolphins were the highest (about 0.8) (Table 5). Estimates of g(0) when searching with naked eye (during 1999) were, in general, lower than estimates of g(0) when using high-powered binoculars (during 1998 and 2004).

#### Aerial surveys

The 1998 aerial survey in the Mid-Atlantic stratum covered 1,734 km of track lines. The 1999 aerial survey covered 3,741 km in the Gulf of Maine Central, Gulf of Maine South, Georges East, Georges Central, and Scotian stratum (Table 1). The 2002 aerial survey covered 7,487 km in three Gulf of Maine strata, three Georges Bank strata, two Shelf strata, and the Scotian stratum. The 2004 aerial survey covered 3,991 km of track lines in the three Gulf of Maine, three Georges Bank, three Shelf, and Offshore strata (Table 1).

From the pooled 2002 and 2004 aerial data, the original estimates of the *ESHW* and  $g(0)_{leading}$  were lowest for harbor porpoises, higher for small cetaceans, and highest for the large whales (Table 6). Cue was a significant covariate for the model of the detection function for large whales, as was size for harbor porpoises. There were no significant covariates for small cetaceans (Table 6).

#### Joint aerial and shipboard abundance estimates

Combining the 1998 and 1999 aerial and shipboard surveys provides one set of abundance estimates for all species located within all of the strata for the months of July and August. Combining the 2004 shipboard and aerial surveys provides another set of abundance estimates for all species that were located within all strata, but during the months of June and July.

The total abundance over all strata and all species covered during 1998/99 was nearly the same as during 2004: 279,583 versus 256,737, respectively (Table 7). However, the distribution of animals between the two years differed. During 1998/99 the most populated strata (with over 50,000 animals) were the Offshore, Gulf of Maine Central, and Scotian strata (Tables 8-11). During 2002, although the survey only covered the northern strata, the Gulf of Maine Central stratum was the only stratum with over 50,000 animals (Table 12). During 2004, only the Offshore stratum had over 50,000 animals (Tables 13-14).

The Gulf of Maine Central and Offshore strata had the highest numbers of cetaceans (Table 7), although the strata with the highest densities (abundance divided by area) were the Gulf of Maine North and Scotian strata (both mostly in Canadian waters). Within US waters, the stratum with the highest density was the Gulf of Maine Central, followed by the Shelf Central, Shelf West, and Georges Bank Central strata (Table 7). The strata with the lowest densities and lowest species diversity were the Mid-Atlantic and the western part of Georges Bank.

#### DISCUSSION

The 2002 aerial survey was not able to complete the planned track lines in the GOMN stratum north of Grand Manan Island, Nova Scotia, Canada. In the summer, many harbor porpoises and right whales, along with fewer animals of other species such as fin whales, humpback whales, and minke whales, usually inhabited the GOMN stratum. Thus, the 2002 estimates for the GOMN are biased low.

The 2002 aerial survey was only conducted in the Gulf of Maine and Georges Bank regions. Thus, the lack of estimates for the Shelf, Offshore, and Mid-Atlantic strata for 2002 are an indication of no survey effort, not an indication of depleted numbers of animals.

As noted above, the strata with the lowest densities and lowest species diversity were the Mid-Atlantic and the western part of Georges Bank. However, the survey effort in these two strata was the lowest, after the Offshore stratum (Table 1). Thus, to be confident with this generalization, more future survey effort is needed in the Mid-Atlantic and Georges Bank West strata.

The 2004 aerial survey was conducted from 12 June to 12 July, which was several weeks earlier than the 2002 and other past surveys. It is generally known that cetaceans that inhabit the Gulf of Maine during the summer (e.g., harbor porpoises, white-sided dolphins, humpback whales, minke whales, and pilot whales) enter the Gulf of Maine in early summer and appear to peak in abundance during August. Comparing the 2002 to 2004 estimates illustrate this movement into

the Gulf of Maine. That is, for the southern strata (GOMS, GeorgesW, and GeorgesC), the 2004 estimate was larger than the 2002 estimate, and for the more northern stratum (GOMC) it was the opposite, the 2002 estimate was larger than the 2004 estimate. In addition, species thought to be more numerous in springtime US waters, like sei whales and common dolphins, were more numerous in the 2004 survey as compared to the 2002 survey. Thus, the 2004 distributions and estimates appear to be more representative of springtime distribution or the transition period between spring and summer, while the 2002 and earlier distributions and abundance estimates appear to be more representative of summertime.

#### REFERENCES

Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burham, K.P., Laake, J.L., Borchers, D.L., and Thomas, L. 2001. *Introduction to Distance Sampling*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Buckland, S.T. and Anganuzzi, A.A. 1988. Comparison of smearing methods in the analysis of Minke sightings data from IWC/IDCR Antarctic cruises. *Rep. Int. Whal. Commn.* **38**:257-63.

Efron, B. and Tibshirani, R.J. 1993. An Introduction to the Bootstrap. Chapman and Hall. New York. 436 pp.

Hiby, L. 1999. The objective identification of duplicate sightings in aerial survey for porpoise. In *Marine Mammal Survey and Assessment Methods* (eds. G.W. Garner, S.C. Amstrup, J.L. Laake, B.F.J. Manly, L.L. McDonald, and D.G. Robertson). Balkema, Rotterdam, pp. 179-189.

Palka, D. 1995. Abundance estimate of the Gulf of Maine harbor porpoise. In *Marine Mammal Survey and Assessment Methods* (eds. G.W. Garner, S.C. Amstrup, J.L. Laake, B.F.J. Manly, L.L. McDonald, and D.G. Robertson). Balkema, Rotterdam, pp. 27-50.

Palka, D. 2000. Abundance of the Gulf of Maine/Bay of Fundy harbor porpoise based on shipboard and aerial surveys during 1999. Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document 00-07. Available from: NEFSC, 166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543.

Palka, D. 2005a. Shipboard surveys in the Northwest Atlantic: estimation of g(0). In: Proceedings of the workshop on Estimation of g(0) in line-transect surveys of cetaceans. (eds. F.Thomsen, F. Ugarte, and P.G.H. Evans). pp. 32-37.

Palka, D. 2005b. Aerial surveys in the Northwest Atlantic: estimation of g(0). In: Proceedings of the workshop on Estimation of g(0) in line-transect surveys of cetaceans. (eds. F.Thomsen, F. Ugarte, and P.G.H. Evans). pp. 12-17.

Palka, D. (In review). Evaluating assumptions underlying a line transect analysis of a 2004 Northwest Atlantic shipboard abundance survey for cetaceans. Submitted to Marine Mammal Science.

Palka, D. (in prep). Estimate of abundance from aerial surveys during 2002 and 2004 when using the circle-back method.

Palka, D.L. and Hammond, P.S. 2001. Accounting for responsive movement in line transect estimates of abundance. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* **58**:777-87.

NE				Track 1	ine lengt	h (km)			total length/
OPAREA	Area	1998	1998	1999	1999	2002	2004	2004	area
Stratum	$(/km^2)$	plane	ship	plane	ship	plane	plane	ship	(/km)
GOM North	9,862	0	0	0	777	155	384	0	0.133
GOM									
Central	53,651	0	0	1,699	1,200	2,467	1,930	0	0.136
GOM South	24,504	0	0	777	0	1,131	1,234	0	0.128
Georges									
East	31,041	0	0	713	0	1,161	645	0	0.081
Georges									
Center	11,534	0	0	196	0	347	451	0	0.086
Georges									
West	28,214	0	0	0	0	967	1,106	0	0.073
Shelf East	21,471	0	1,211	0	0	554	143	581	0.116
Shelf Center	15,791	0	824	0	0	204	39	750	0.115
Shelf West	16,515	0	827	0	0	0	14	735	0.095
Offshore	139,237	0	1,408	0	0	0	0	1,925	0.024
Scotian	17,135	0	0	358	404	502	152	0	0.083
Mid Atlantic	48,593	1,734	0	0	0	0	1,252	0	0.061
TOTAL	417,548	1,734	4,270	3,741	2,382	7,487	7,349	3,991	0.074

Table 1. Statistics about each NE OPAREA stratum: area (/km<sup>2</sup>) and track line length (km), by year and platform.

Year	Platform	Platform	Platform	Datas
		Name	Length (m)	Dates
1998	Ship	R/V Abel-J	22	06 Jul - 04 Aug
			32	08 Aug - 06 Sep
1998	Plane	NOAA Twin Otter	15.8	18 Jul – 21 Aug
1999	Ship	R/V Abel-J	32	28 Jul - 31 Aug
1999	Plane	NOAA Twin Otter	15.8	10 Aug - 29 Aug
2002	Plane	NOAA Twin Otter	15.8	19 Jul - 16 Aug
2004	Ship	R/V Endeavor	52	23 Jun - 12 Jul
			55	16 Jul - 04 Aug
2004	Plane	NOAA Twin Otter	15.8	12 Jun - 12 Jul

Table 2. Dates and platform specifications of each survey.

Table 3. For each shipboard survey, the following were identified: ship, target species, searching tools, and height of the two platforms (meters above the water line).

			Search	ning tool	Height of platform	
Year	Ship	Target species	Unner teem	Lower team	Upper	Lower
			Opper team	Lower team	team	team
1998	R/V Abel-J	Pelagic, warm	20x60 binos	25x150 binos	14	9
		water species	20000 011105	258150 01105	17	,
1999	R/V Abel-J	Coastal, cold-	Naked eve	Naked eve	14	9
		water species	I Vaked Cyc	Naked Cyc	17	,
2004	R/V Endeavor	Pelagic, warm	20x60 binos	$25 \times 150$ binos	17.6	10.2
		water species	20100 01105	257150 01105	17.0	10.2

behavior category; Cue = cue category; Depth = bottom depth; ObserverGrp = observer group; Slope = bottom slope; Period = first or significant covariates (when the data were adjusted for rounding) as derived in the original abundance estimate analyses. Covariates Table 4. From the 1998, 1999, and 2004 shipboard surveys, for each species group, estimates of the ESHW (in meters), its CV, and include: Beauf = Beaufort sea state; WTemp = sea surface water temperature; Wind = wind speed; Size = group size; Behav = se

econd time perio	d; None :	= no covariate fou	and significant; N	A = group size w	as the only covari	ate that was inves	tigated.
Cracie Cracie		19	98	19	66	20	04
Group <sup>1</sup>	Team <sup>4</sup>						
		Covariate	ESHW (CV)	Covariate	ESHW (CV)	Covariate	ESHW (CV)
Beaked W.	Up	Beauf	1418.3 (0.11)			None	2268.8 (0.10)
/dds	Low	None	1570.0 (0.06)			Depth	$2140.6\ (0.17)$
Kogia spp.	Dup	None	1037.8 (0.21)			None	3107.0 (0.15)
Offshore	Up	None	815.8 (0.13)			None	$1440.7\ (0.10)$
Bottlenose	Low	Wtemp, Wind	1505.1 (0.11)			Cue	1912.8 (0.13)
D.	Dup	None	715.8 (0.15)			Cue	1259.8 (0.17)
	Up	Cue	1134.3 (0.15)			None	$1584.3\ (0.11)$
Common D.	Low	Cue, Wind	1077.0 (0.19)			Behav	$1473.3\ (0.11)$
	Dup	None	992.6 (0.11)			Wind	$1701.4\ (0.11)$
	Up	None	2246.8 (0.10)			ObserverGrp	$2538.6\ (0.11)$
Sperm W.	Low	Cue	2307.0 (0.15)			Size	$3404.8\ (0.08)$
	Dup	None	2407.4 (0.17)			Slope	$1894.4\ (0.13)$
Striped/	Up	Wind	1265.7 (0.18)			Size	2089.6 (0.13)
Spotted/	Low	Size	(1110) 6 661			None	2280.7 (0.05)
Spinner D. <sup>2</sup>	Dup	Size	1585.1 (0.17)			Size	3081.8 (0.07)
	Up	Beauf	1213.2 (0.27)		1105.0 (0.16)	WTemp	3112.8 (0.18)
Large W. <sup>3</sup>	Low	Size, Wind	1132.8 (0.42)	NA	1010 (0.21)	WTemp	$2467.7\ (0.15)$
	Dup	None	1151.6 (0.17)		878.0 (0.16)	WTemp	2096.0 (0.29)
	$Up^5$	None	1381.6 (0.08)			Wind	1799.1 (0.07)
Risso's D.	Low	None	1218.9 (0.08)			Cue	$3084.0\ (0.12)$
	Dup	None	1100.2 (0.09)			None	$2433.0\ (0.26)$

Species	T4	19	86	19	66	20	04
Group	I Call	Covariate	ESHW (CV)	Covariate	ESHW (CV)	Covariate	ESHW (CV)
Pilot W. spp.	Close Far Dup	Behav None Cue	1209.7 (0.17) 1362.2 (0.32) 1153.6 (0.21)			None None None	1658.8 (0.29) 2832.5 (0.22) 2324.6 (0.25)
Harbor P.	Up Low Dup		,	NA	375.0 (0.05) 236.0 (0.06) 270.0 (0.07)		
Humpback W.	Up Low Dup			NA	1104.0 (0.25) 1464.0 (0.13) 1590.0 (0.24)		
Minke W.	Up Low Dup			NA	509.0 (0.14) 358.0 (0.15) 325.0 (0.16)		
Right W.	Up Low Dup			NA	1215.0 (0.16) 1461.0 (0.21) 974.0 (0.16)		
Whitesided D.	Up Low Dup			NA	518.0 (0.24) 446.0 (0.24) 550.0 (0.30)		
$W_{.} = whal$	le: D. = d	olphin: P. = porp	oise: and spp. $= \pi$	nultiple species.			

5 Spinner dolphins were only seen during the 1998 survey.

2 3

Large Whales during 1998 and 1999 included fin whales, animals identified as either a fin or sei whale, and sei whales. Large Whales during 2004 included humpback whales, fin whales, sei whales, animals identified as either a fin or sei whale, and animals identified as an unknown large whale.

Teams are upper, lower, and duplicate when it was assumed there was no reaction to the ship, while teams are close, far, and duplicate when it was assumed there was reactive movement to the ship.

Ś

4

For Risso's dolphins, teams for 1998 and 1999 (on the *R/V Abel-J*) are upper, lower, and duplicate (no reaction to ship), while teams for 2004 (on the *R/V Endeavor*) are close, far, and duplicate (reactive movement to ship).

	<i>g(0)</i> (CV)						
Species	19	98	19	99	20	04	
	Upper	Lower	Upper	Lower	Upper	Lower	
	team	team	team	team	team	team	
Beaked W.	0.50 (0.66)	0.46 (0.63)	-	-	0.27 (0.48)	0.31 (0.54)	
Kogia spp.	0.50 (0.66)	0.46 (0.63)	-	-	0.55 (0.60)	0.29 (0.66)	
Bottlenose D.	0.93 (0.61)	0.69 (0.58)	-	-	0.62 (0.31)	0.67 (0.32)	
Common D.	0.52 (0.89)	0.76 (0.87)	-	-	0.53 (0.41)	0.64 (0.33)	
Risso's D.	0.51 (0.36)	0.61 (0.31)	-	-	0.77 (0.43)	0.84 (0.37)	
Pilot W.	0.59 (0.68)	0.50 (0.65)	-	-	0.66 (0.39)	0.67 (0.36)	
Sperm W.	0.36 (0.66)	0.28 (0.67)	-	-	0.57 (0.40)	0.46 (0.39)	
Striped D.	0.76 (0.77)	0.61 (0.77)	-	-	0.42 (0.26)	0.57 (0.25)	
Spotted D.	0.76 (0.77)	0.61 (0.77)	-	-	0.37 (0.30)	0.94 (0.25)	
Spinner D.	0.76 (0.77)	0.61 (0.77)	-	-	-	-	
Fin or Sei W.	0.68 (0.80)	0.32 (0.87)	0.48 (0.25)	0.59 (0.19)	0.37 (0.62)	0.94 (0.61)	
Fin W.	0.68 (0.80)	0.32 (0.87)	0.48 (0.25)	0.59 (0.19)	0.37 (0.62)	0.94 (0.61)	
Sei W.	0.68 (0.80)	0.32 (0.87)	0.48 (0.25)	0.59 (0.19)	0.37 (0.62)	0.94 (0.61)	
Humpback W.	-	-	0.38 (0.28)	0.30 (0.27)	0.70 (0.62)	0.88 (0.61)	
Bottlenose W.	-	-	-	-	0.49 (0.62)	0.49 (0.61)	
Unid W.	-	-	-	-	0.28 (0.62)	0.21 (0.61)	
Harbor P.	-	-	0.35 (0.16)	0.54 (0.14)	-	-	
Minke W.	-	-	0.69 (0.20)	0.70 (0.20)	-	-	
Right W.	-	-	0.29 (0.25)	1.0 (0.19)	-	-	
White- sided D.			0.27 (0.41)	0.38 (0.26)	-	-	

Table 5. Estimates of g(0) for the upper and lower teams for the 1998, 1999, and 2004 shipboard surveys as derived in the original analyses. - = species not detected or not analyzed during that year.

Table 6. From the 1998, 1999, 2002 and 2004 aerial surveys, for each species group, estimates of (A)  $g(0)_{leading}$ , and (B) ESHW (in meters) and significant covariates; all were derived in the original analyses. The "teams" are the single and leading legs (SL), trailing legs (trail), and duplicates (dup). The covariates are: Beauf = Beaufort sea state, WTemp = sea surface water temperature, Wind = wind speed, Size = group size, Behav = behavior category, Cue = cue category, Depth = bottom depth, ObserverGrp = observer group, Slope = bottom slope, Period = first or second period, None = no covariate found significant.

A. g(0)	
Species Group	$g(0)_{leading}$
	(CV)
	1999, 1998, 2002,
	2004
Large whales	0.53 (0.54)
Small cetaceans	0.43 (0.37)
Harbor porpoise	0.36 (0.57)

B. ESHW

Species	T	20	002, 2004	ESHW (CV)		
Group	Teann	Cov	ESHW (CV)	1998	1999	
Large	SL	Cue	452.0 (0.07)		150.0 (0.16)	
whales	trail	None	837.0	1,271.3 (0.04)	-	
	dup	None	617.4	-,_ / -/- (-/- /)	-	
Small	SL	None	256.9 (0.05)		180.0 (0.16)	
cetaceans	trail	None	319.9	BD* 296 (0.33)	-	
	dup	None	375.0	WD* 1,406 (0.11)	-	
Harbor	SL	Size	155.6 (0.06)		155.6 (0.06)	
porpoise	trail	None	175.7 (0.14)		-	
	dup	None	270.0 (0.15)		-	

BD\* = bottlenose dolphin, both coastal and offshore WD\*= white-sided dolphin

Species	Voor			Stra	atum			
Species	rear	GOMN	GOMC	GOMS	Scotian	GeorgesW	GeorgesC	
Beaked W.	99							
	02				156			
	04		147					
Bottlenose D., offshore	99		455					
	02				399	682	1,278	
D ///	04							
Bottlenose W.	02							
0	04							
Common D.	99			0.4			1 402	
	02		2 702	04 9 901	1 9 1 5	5 262	1,495	
Fin W	04 QQ	176	387	300	204	5,205	742	
	02	170	347	500	192	52	172	
	04		429	734		157		
Fin or Sei W.	99	36	33		104			
	02		39	77				
	04	71	309	221				
Grampus (Risso's D.)	99				1,561			
	02		3,358		5,488			
	04							
Harbor porpoise	99	21,642	15,745		37,185			
	02	11,931	32,219		1,864			
	04	27,224	25,028					
Humpback W.	99	70	417	199	199			
	02		98	33	504		200	
Kania ang	04	38	41		501		227	
Kogia spp.	99							
	02							
Minke W	04 QQ	868	407		730			
WINNE W.	02	000	130	65	51			
	04	145	100	28	01			
Pilot W.	99		3.003				978	
	02		1,443		2,840			
	04		874	1,044	,		4,412	
Right W.	99	192	2					
	02			172				
	04		177	190				
Sei W.	99	94						
	02				57			
0 14/	04		94	200				
Sperm w.	99		44				240	
	02		41				310	
Spinner D	04							
Spotted D	99							
opolica D.	02							
	04							
Striped D.	99							
	02							
	04							
Unid D.	99		15,831		1,331			
	02	86	611	29	231	853		
	04		1,078				1,377	
Unid W.	99		147	798	_			
	02		91	15	71			
	04	98	106	126	429			
whitesided D.	99	5,724	17,267	1,233	10,381			
	02		17,153	0,324 2 102	18,338			
τοται	00/00	20 002	E3 604	2,102		0	1 700	
IUTAL	90/99 00	20,0UZ 12 017	55,094	2,029	20,090	0 1 507	1,120	
	02	27 576	32,769	13 536	2 745	5 420	17 567	
	Ave Abun	22,798	47.331	7.821	29.709	3.504	7.523	
A	ve Density	2.31	0.88	0.32	1.73	0.12	0.65	

Table 7. Summary of abundance estimates for all areas, years, and species.

Species	Year	Stratum						TOTAL
		GeorgesE	ShelfW	ShelfC	ShelfE	Offshore	MidAtlantic	
Beaked W.	98		219	3	1,205	1,455		2,882
	02				532			688
	04		251	13	216	2,212	10.074	2,839
Bottlenose D., offshol	198	500	2,118	2,503	1,113	338	13,074	19,601
	02	536	4 9 6 4	0 000	1,384	0.040	070	4,279
	04		1,364	2,390	2,721	2,942	370	9,787
Bottlenose w.	02					202		202
Common D	04		2 0 1 0	5 9 2 6	2 602	292		11 240
	90	4 677	2,910	5,650	2,003			6 8 9 7
	02	10 939	10 382	6 886	27 770	3 258		90 548
Fin W	98/99	551	23	146	146	36	62	2 872
	02	616		412	69			2,188
	04	149						1,469
Fin or Sei W.	98/99		6	24	201			404
	02	96						212
	04	134	7	50	99			891
Grampus (Risso's D.)	98		2,492	2,550	4,197	6,853		17,653
	02	516			848			10,210
	04		4,828	5,089	3,234	1,882		15,033
Harbor porpoise	99	2,728						77,300
	02							46,014
	04	730						52,982
Humpback W.	99							885
	02	684			58			1,073
	04		9		15			831
Kogia spp.	98			7	19	89		115
	02		005			100		0
NA:	04		225			133		358
WINKE W.	99	40		110				2,005
	02	40		110	212		55	402
Pilot W	98		906	1 162	1 250	1 1 3 3	55	8 4 3 2
FILOU VV.	02	1 026	500	1,102	1,230	1,100		7 19/
	04	4 708	323	38	2 204	2 1 2 3		15 726
Right W	99	4,100	020	00	2,204	2,120		194
	02							172
	04							367
Sei W.	98				10			104
	02							57
	04				7			301
Sperm W.	98		231	120	377	2,471		3,199
	02	50						401
	04		333	329	27	1,918		2,607
Spinner D.	98			18				18
Spotted D.	98				964	31,079		32,043
	02							0
	04		1,442			2,136		3,578
Striped D.	98		5,672	2,523	3,645	29,929		41,769
	02							0
Lindel D	04		1,500	1,161	1,005	48,388		52,054
Unia D.	99	2 4 2 0		500	700			17,162
	02	2,139		523	/ 68			5,240
Linid W	04							2,455
	02	205			54			436
	04	200	17	3	157 157	۵۵	⊿ 0	1 38/
Whitesided D	99	847	17	5	407	55	199	40 651
D.	02	8 353			26 817		100	76 985
	04	5,550			_ 5,5 17			2,795
TOTAL	98/99	4,126	14,577	14,892	15,730	73,383	13.335	279,583
	02	18,938	0	1,051	33,058	0	0	162,448
	04	16,660	20,681	15,959	37,967	65,383	474	256,737
	Ave Abun	13,241	17,629	10,634	28,918	69,383	6,905	232,923
	Ave Densi	t 0.43	0.62	0.67	1.35	0.50	0.05	0.56

Table 7. Continued.	Summary of abundance	e estimates for all areas,	years, and species.

Offshore				
Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundanaa
_		of	group	Aduidance
		groups	size	$(\mathbb{C}\mathbf{V})$
Beaked	Up	17	2.4	1 455
W. spp	Low	15	2.2	(0, 12)
	Dup	7	2.7	(0.13)
Offshore	Up	2	10.0	220
Bottlenose	Low	2	6.5	(0.77)
D.	Dup	2	6.5	(0.77)
Fin W.	Up	1	1.0	26
	Low	1	1.0	(1.05)
	Dup	1	1.0	(1.05)
Risso's D.	Up	17	7.4	6 852
	Low	14	15.8	(0,10)
	Dup	9	10.9	(0.19)
Kogia	Up	0	-	80
spp.	Low	3	1.0	(1.36)
	Dup	0	-	(1.50)
Pilot W.	Up	4	4.5	1 1 2 3
spp.	Low	2	7.5	(0.77)
	Dup	1	6.0	(0.77)
Sperm W.	Up	21	1.7	2 471
	Low	18	1.9	(0.14)
	Dup	6	2.0	(0.14)
Spotted D.	Up	9	36.6	31.079
	Low	9	63.1	(0.03)
	Dup	8	48.1	(0.03)
Striped D.	Up	17	62.0	29 929
	Low	20	42.7	(0.12)
	Dup	13	51.5	(0.12)
Total	-			73,383
		-	-	(0.05)

 Table 8. 1998 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum.

 Shelf East

Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundance
		of	group	(CV)
		groups	size	$(\mathbb{C}\mathbf{V})$
Beaked	Up	30	2.7	1 205
W. spp	Low	38	2.7	(0, 22)
	Dup	8	3.3	(0.23)
Offshore	Up	14	12.9	1 1 1 2
Bottlenose	Low	11	13.5	1,113
D.	Dup	7	9.6	0.35)
Common	Up	16	25.4	2 (02
D.	Low	17	44.5	2,603
	Dup	11	48.7	(0.43)
Fin W.	Up	18	1.1	146
	Low	5	1.2	146
	Dup	4	1.3	(0.43)
Fin or Sei	Up	3	1.0	201
W.	Low	6	1.5	201
	Dup	1	1.0	(0.86)
Risso's D.	Up	41	8.2	4.105
	Low	55	8.0	4,197
	Dup	20	7.7	(0.27)
Kogia spp.	Up	3	1.0	10
0 11	Low	0	-	19
	Dup	0	-	(1.60)
Pilot W.	Up	16	11.1	1.0.50
SDD.	Low	21	12.0	1,250
11	Dup	11	14.6	(0.33)
Sei W.	Up	2	1.0	
	Low	0	-	10
	Dup	0	-	(0.86)
Sperm W.	Up	20	1.6	2.55
	Low	18	1.6	377
	Dup	8	1.3	(0.41)
Spotted D.	Up	4	9.0	0.64
	Low	6	12.8	964
	Dup	2	16.5	(1.05)
Striped D.	Up	14	50.9	2 (1-
I	Low	14	41.4	3,645
	Dup	9	50.3	(0.42)
Total	-			15,730
		-	-	(0.16)
		1		(0.10)

Table 8. Continued. 1998 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum.

Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundance
		of	group	(CV)
		groups	size	$(\mathbb{C}\mathbf{v})$
Beaked	Up	1	1.0	2
W. spp	Low	0	-	(1.20)
	Dup	0	-	(1.39)
Offshore	Up	23	17.3	2 502
Bottlenose	Low	31	17.3	2,503
D.	Dup	15	18.6	(0.21)
Common	Up	9	72.3	5.926
D.	Low	14	41.4	5,830
	Dup	5	63.6	(0.43)
Fin W.	Up	7	1.0	140
	Low	3	1.0	146
	Dup	1	1.0	(0.61)
Fin or Sei	Up	3	1.0	24
W.	Low	3	1.0	24
	Dup	3	1.0	(0.62)
Risso's D.	Up	48	6.5	2.550
	Low	50	5.5	2,550
	Dup	23	6.9	(0.36)
Kogia	Up	1	1.0	7
spp.	Low	0	-	(1.01)
	Dup	0	-	(1.81)
Pilot W.	Up	6	11.0	1.1.(2)
spp.	Low	7	11.9	1,162
	Dup	2	11.5	(0.63)
Sperm W.	Up	10	1.6	120
	Low	5	1.6	120
	Dup	2	2.5	(0.60)
Spinner	Up	0	-	10
D.	Low	1	6.0	18
	Dup	0	-	(1.41)
Striped D.	Up	10	40.4	2,522
1	Low	12	57.8	2,523
	Dup	8	59.9	(0.47)
Total	-			14,892
		-	-	(0.20)

Shelf Central

Shelf Wes	t			
Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundanaa
		of	group	Abundance (CV)
		groups	size	$(\mathbb{C}\mathbf{V})$
Beaked	Up	6	3.7	210
W. spp	Low	9	3.7	(0.30)
	Dup	3	4.7	(0.39)
Offshore	Up	22	11.4	2 1 1 8
Bottlenose	Low	38	18.8	(0, 24)
D.	Dup	13	22.2	(0.24)
Common	Up	5	79.2	2 010
D.	Low	11	67.3	2,910
	Dup	5	103.2	(0.44)
Fin W.	Up	3	2.0	22
	Low	1	4.0	(0.08)
	Dup	0	-	(0.98)
Fin or Sei	Up	1	1.0	6
W.	Low	0	-	(1.26)
	Dup	0	-	(1.50)
Risso's D.	Up	20	7.7	2 402
	Low	37	12.8	(0.36)
	Dup	11	13.0	(0.30)
Pilot W.	Up	12	9.2	006
spp.	Low	17	10.8	(0.38)
	Dup	9	12.6	(0.38)
Sperm W.	Up	16	2.2	221
	Low	8	3.9	(0.57)
	Dup	5	4.6	(0.57)
Striped D.	Up	6	93.8	5 672
	Low	10	63.8	(0.52)
	Dup	5	57.0	(0.32)
Total	-			14,577
		-	-	(0.23)

Table 9. 1998 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within the MidAtlantic stratum. N = number of groups. S=average group size. sm= small groups ( $\leq$ =5), lg = large groups ( $\geq$ 5). SL = leading and single portion of the track line.

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun (CV)
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	Abuli (CV)
Bottlenose D., offshore & coastal	SL	24	8	2.1	20.0	13,074 (0.67)
Fin W.	SL	2	0	1.5	-	62 (1.03)
Whitesided D.	SL	0	1	-	20.0	199 (0.92)
Total	-	-	-	-	-	13,335 (0.66)

#### MidAtlantic

Table 10. 1999 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum.

Guir or hit		/1 011		
Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundance
		of	group	(CV)
		groups	size	(0,1)
Fin W.	Up	10	1.9	176
	Low	13	1.3	(0.32)
	Dup	4	1.8	(0.32)
Fin or Sei	Up	2	1.0	26
W.	Low	11	1.1	(0.74)
	Dup	0	-	(0.74)
Harbor P.	Up	190	3.2	21 642
	Low	180	3.2	21,042
	Dup	57	3.6	(0.17)
Humpback	Up	6	1.5	70
W.	Low	7	1.6	(0.54)
	Dup	4	1.8	(0.34)
Minke W.	Up	41	1.0	969
	Low	30	1.1	808 (0,10)
	Dup	11	1.2	(0.19)
Right W.	Up	10	2.2	102
-	Low	37	1.4	(0.02)
	Dup	8	1.1	(0.02)
Sei W.	Up	2	1.5	0.4
	Low	3	1.7	94
	Dup	2	1.5	(0.22)
Whitesided	Up	7	10.4	5 70 4
D.	Low	13	11.4	5,724
	Dup	2	6.0	(0.88)
Total	-			28,802
		-	-	0.22)

Gulf	of Maine North	

Scotian				
Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundance
		of	group	(CV)
		groups	size	$(\mathbf{C}\mathbf{v})$
Fin W.	Up	8	1.0	204
	Low	7	1.1	(0.28)
	Dup	4	1.0	(0.28)
Fin or Sei	Up	2	1.5	104
W.	Low	3	1.0	104
	Dup	1	1.0	(0.47)
Harbor P.	Up	) 136		22 800
	Low	118	3.4	52,899
	Dup	63	3.7	(0.11)
Humpback	Up	5	1.2	100
W	Low	4	1.5	(0.49)
	Dup	2	1.5	(0.48)
Minke W.	Up	16	1.0	720
	Low	10	1.0	(0.22)
	Dup	6	1.0	(0.22)
Whitesided	Up	3	21.3	051
D.	Low	6	8.2	(0.72)
	Dup	3	23.3	(0.72)
Total	-			35,087
		-	-	(0.10)

#### Gulf of Maine Central (coastal only)

Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundance
		of	group	(CV)
		groups	size	(01)
Fin W.	Up	34	1.4	240
	Low	27	1.3	(0.21)
	Dup	17	1.4	(0.21)
Fin or Sei	Up	2	1.0	22
W.	Low	12	1.0	(0.74)
	Dup	0	-	(0.74)
Harbor P.	Up	134	3.0	10 219
	Low	137	3.0	10,218
	Dup	56	3.4	(0.19)
Humpback	Up	26	1.5	417
W.	Low	29	1.4	41/
	Dup	13	1.4	(0.22)
Minke W.	Up	34	1.0	407
	Low	30	1.0	(0, 22)
	Dup	19	1.0	(0.23)
Right W.	Up	0	-	2
	Low	1	1.0	(1.69)
	Dup	0	-	(1.08)
Whitesided	Up	29	52.3	14.052
D.	Low	25	36.6	(0.16)
	Dup	14	41.4	(0.16)
Total	-			25,369
		-	-	(0.12)

Table 11. 1999 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum. N = number of groups. S=average group size. sm= small groups ( $\leq$ 5), lg = large groups ( $\geq$ 5). SL = leading and single portion of the track line. Trail = trailing portion of track line. Dup = sightings detected on both the leading and trailing portions of the track line.

Species	Team		Ν		S	
species	i cam	C	T	C	т Т	Abun (CV)
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	
Offshore	SL					
Bottlenose		2	0	1.5	-	455 (1.08)
D.						
Fin W.	SL	1	0	1.0	-	147 (1.19)
Harbor P.	SL	11	1	2.2	7.0	5,527 (0.71)
Pilot W.	SL	4	3	1.8	10.0	3,003 (0.74)
Unid D.	SL	1	3	2.0	80.0	15,831 (0.64)
Unid W.	SL	1	0	1.0	-	147 (1.22)
Whitesided	SL	1	2	2.0	22.5	2.215(0.02)
D.		1	2	2.0	22.5	3,215 (0.92)
Total	-	-	-	-	-	28,325 (0.41)

Gulf of Maine Central (center only)

#### Gulf of Maine South

Species	Team	N			S	Abun (CV)	
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	Abun (CV)	
Fin W.	SL	2	0	1.0	-	399 (1.07)	
Humpback W.	SL	1	0	1.0	-	199 (1.07)	
Unid W.	SL	2	0	2.0	-	798 (0.97)	
Whitesided D.	SL	2	0	3.0	-	1,233 (0.83)	
Total	-	-	-	-	-	2,629 (0.52)	

#### Georges Bank Central

Species	Team	N			S	Abun (CV)	
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	Abuli (CV)	
Fin W.	SL	2	0	1.0	-	742 (1.11)	
Pilot W.	SL	0	1	-	6.0	978 (1.03)	
Total	-	-	-	-	-	1,720 (0.76)	

#### Georges Bank East

Species	Team		Ν	S		Abun (CV)	
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	Abull (CV)	
Fin W.	SL	2	0	1.0	-	551 (0.99)	
Harbor P.	SL	2	0	3.5	-	2,728 (1.36)	
Whitesided D.	SL	0	1	-	7.0	847 (1.04)	
Total	-	-	-	-	-	4,126 (0.93)	

#### Scotian

Species	Team		Ν	S		Abun (CV)	
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	Abuii (CV)	
Harbor P.	SL	5	0	2.0	-	4,290 (0.89)	
Risso D.	SL	1	0	5	-	1,561 (0.80)	
Unid D.	SL	0	1	-	10.0	1,331 (0.84)	
Whitesided D.	SL	1	5	4.0	19.8	14,430 (0.63)	
Total	-	-	-	-	-	21,612 (0.46)	

Table 12. 2002 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum. N = number of groups. S=average group size. sm= small groups ( $\leq$ 5), lg = large groups ( $\geq$ 5). SL = leading and single portion of the track line. Trail = trailing portion of track line. Dup = sightings detected on both the leading and trailing portions of the track line, that is, duplicates sightings.

Gulf of Maine North

~ ·	-				ã	
Species	Team		Ν	N S		Abun
		sm	lg	sm	lg	(CV)
Harbor	SL	13	3			11 021
porpoise	trail	9	1	1.2	7.3	(0.52)
	dup	5	1			(0.55)
Unid	SL	1	0			86
Dolphin	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	0	0			(1.12)
Total	-					12,017
		-	-	-	-	(0.53)

Gulf of Maine Central

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
		sm	lg	sm	lg	(CV)
Fin W.	SL	8	0			247
	trail	0	0	1.1	-	(0.76)
	dup	0	0			(0.70)
Fin or	SL	1	0			20
sei W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	0	0			(1.15)
Risso's	SL	0	1			2 2 5 9
D.	trail	0	0	-	80	3,338
	dup	0	0			(1.00)
Harbor	SL	60	13			22 210
porpois	trail	7	4	2.3	8.8	52,219
e	dup	4	2			(0.32)
Humpb	SL	3	0			0.0
ack Ŵ.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	98
	dup	0	0			(0.89)
Minke	SL	4	0			120
W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.91)
	dup	0	0			(0.81)
Pilot	SL	5	1			1 4 4 2
W.	trail	1	1	2.6	6.0	1,443
	dup	1	0			(0.65)
Sperm	SL	1	0			41
Ŵ.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	41
	dup	0	0			(1.13)
Unid	SL	4	1		20	(11
D.	trail	0	1	2.0	30.	611
	dup	0	0		0	(0.67)
Unid	SL	5	0			0.1
W.	trail	2	0	1.2	-	91
	dup	0	0			(0.77)
Whitesi	SL	13	16		24	17 1 5 2
ded D.	trail	0	1	2.5	34.	17,153
	dup	0	0		9	(0.58)
Total	-					55,530
		-	-	-	-	(0.36)
L					I	(1.2.0)

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
		sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Common	SL	1	0			01
D.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	04 (1.19)
	dup	0	0			(1.18)
Fin W.	SL	13	0			500
	trail	3	0	1.0	-	(0.65)
	dup	2	0			(0.65)
Fin or Sei	SL	2	0			77
W.	trail	2	0	1.0	-	(0.94)
	dup	1	0			(0.84)
Humpback	SL	1	0			22
W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	0	0			(1.13)
Minke W.	SL	1	0			(5
	trail	0	0	2.0	-	(1.19)
	dup	0	0			(1.18)
Right W.	SL	2	0			172
	trail	1	0	1.5	-	1/2
	dup	1	0			(0.98)
Unid. D.	SL	1	0			20
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1,11)
	dup	0	0			(1.11)
Unid W.	SL	1	0			15
	trail	1	0	1.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	1	0			(1.13)
White-	SL	3	7			6 224
sided D.	trail	0	0	2.3	31.3	0,324
	dup	0	0			(0.03)
Total	-					7,299
		-	-	-	-	(0.55)

#### Georges Bank West

Gulf of Maine South

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	lg	(CV)
Bottlenose	SL	0	2			682
D.,	trail	0	0	-	7.0	(0.74)
offshore	dup	0	0			(0.74)
Fin W.	SL	1	0			50
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 10)
	dup	0	0			(1.19)
Unid. D.	SL	1	3			052
	trail	0	0	5.0	13.0	833
	dup	0	0			(0.80)
Total	-					1,587
		-	-	-	-	(0.56)

Table 12. Continued. 2002 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum. N = number of groups. S=average group size. sm= small groups ( $\leq$ 5), lg = large groups ( $\geq$ 5). SL = leading and single portion of the track line. Trail = trailing portion of track line. Dup = sightings detected on both the leading and trailing portions of the track line, that is, duplicates sightings.

Georges L										
Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun				
_		sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)				
Bottlenose	SL	0	1			1 279				
D.,	trail	0	0	-	23.0	(1,27)				
offshore	dup	0	0			(1.22)				
Common	SL	2	1			1 402				
D.	trail	0	1	3.0	20.0	1,495				
	dup	0	0			(0.93)				
Humpback	SL	2	0			200				
W	trail	0	0	2.0	-	(0.02)				
	dup	0	0			(0.93)				
Sperm W.	SL	5	0			210				
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.91)				
	dup	0	0			(0.81)				
Total	-					3,281				
		-	-	-	-	(0.64)				

Georges Bank Central

Shelf (	Central
---------	---------

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
_		Sm	Lg	Sm	lg	(CV)
Fin W.	SL	3	0			412
	trail	1	0	1.0	-	412
	dup	0	0			(1.00)
Minke	SL	1	0			116
W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.80)
	dup	0	0			(0.89)
Unid.	SL	1	0			522
D.	trail	0	0	5.0	-	(0.02)
	dup	0	0			(0.92)
Total	-					1,051
		-	-	-	-	(0.61)

Species	Team	N S			Abun	
-		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Bottlenose	SL	0	1			526
D.,	trail	0	0	-	12.0	(1.02)
offshore	dup	0	0			(1.03)
Common	SL	1	4			1677
D.	trail	0	2	1.0	25.8	(0.68)
	dup	0	2			(0.00)
Fin W.	SL	1	0			616
	trail	2	0	1.2	-	(0.60)
	dup	0	0			(0.07)
Fin or Sei	SL	1	0			06
W.	trail	0	0	2.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	0	0			(1.12)
Risso's D.	SL	0	1			516
	trail	0	0	-	10.0	(1.04)
	dup	0	0			(1.04)
Humpback	SL	11	0			684
W.	trail	0	0	1.5	-	(0.77)
	dup	0	0			(0.77)
Minke W.	SL	1	0			40
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 13)
	dup	0	0			(1.15)
Pilot W.	SL	4	0			1026
	trail	0	0	2.3	-	(0.85)
	dup	0	0			(0.05)
Sperm W.	SL	1	0			50
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.28)
	dup	0	0			(1.20)
Unid. D.	SL	1	2			2130
	trail	0	0	5.0	63.5	(1.05)
	dup	0	0			(1.05)
Unid W.	SL	7	0			205
	trail	1	0	1.6	-	(0.72)
	dup	0	0			(0.72)
Whitesided	SL	1	11			8353
D.	trail	0	1	3.0	22.3	(0.62)
	dup	0	0			(0.02)
Total	-	-	-	-	-	18,938
1					1	1 (1)35)

Georges Bank East

Table 12. Continued. 2002 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum. N = number of groups. S=average group size. sm= small groups ( $\leq$ 5), lg = large groups ( $\geq$ 5). SL = leading and single portion of the track line. Trail = trailing portion of track line. Dup = sightings detected on both the leading and trailing portions of the track line, that is, duplicates sightings.

Shelf East							
Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun	
-		Sm	Lg	Sm	lg	(CV)	
Beaked W.	SL	3	0			522	
	trail	0	0	3.0	-	(1.10)	
	dup	0	0			(1.10)	
Bottlenose	SL	2	1			1 2 9 4	
D.,	trail	0	0	2.0	12.0	(0.67)	
offshore	dup	0	0			(0.07)	
Common	SL	0	1			643	
D.	trail	0	1	-	10.0	(1 10)	
	dup	0	1			(1.10)	
Fin W.	SL	1	0			60	
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.05)	
	dup	0	0			(1.05)	
Risso's D.	SL	1	1			848	
	trail	0	0	1.0	9.0	(0.85)	
	dup	0	0			(0.85)	
Humpback	SL	1	0			59	
W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.00)	
	dup	0	0			(1.09)	
Pilot W.	SL	3	1			1 885	
	trail	0	0	2.7	8.0	(0.85)	
	dup	0	0			(0.85)	
Unid D.	SL	1	1			768	
	trail	0	0	4.0	25.0	(0.81)	
	dup	0	0			(0.81)	
Unid. W.	SL	1	0			54	
	trail	0	0	2.0	-	(1 11)	
	dup	0	0			(1.11)	
Whitesided	SL	4	10			26.817	
D.	trail	0	0	2.5	53.5	20,817	
	dup	0	0			(0.00)	
Total	-					33,058	
		-	-	-	-	(0.49)	

Scotlall						
Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	lg	(CV)
Beaked W.	SL	1	0			156
	trail	0	0	3.0	-	(1.16)
	dup	0	0			(1.10)
Bottlenose	SL	0	1			200
D.,	trail	0	1	-	7.0	(0.00)
offshore	dup	0	0			(0.99)
Fin W.	SL	0	1			102
	trail	0	0	-	6.0	(1.07)
	dup	0	0			(1.07)
Risso's D.	SL	11	3			5 100
	trail	0	0	2.5	6.7	5,488 (0,52)
	dup	0	0			(0.32)
Harbor	SL	1	2			1.964
porpoise	trail	0	0	2.0	6.5	1,804
	dup	0	0			(0.65)
Minke W.	SL	1	0			51
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.00)
	dup	0	0			(1.09)
Pilot W.	SL	2	2			2940
	trail	0	0	4.0	13.5	2840
	dup	0	0			(0.79)
Sei W.	SL	1	0			57
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.07)
	dup	0	0			(1.07)
Unid. D.	SL	2	0			221
	trail	0	0	2.5	-	(0.99)
	dup	0	0			(0.88)
Unid. W.	SL	1	0			71
	trail	0	0	3.0	-	(1.07)
	dup	0	0			(1.07)
Whitesided	SL	2	5			10 220
D.	trail	0	1	3.5	83.4	18,538
	dup	0	1			(0.79)
Total	-					29,687
		-	-	-	-	(0.51)

Scotian

Offshore				
Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundanaa
_		of	group	Adundance
		groups	size	$(\mathbb{C}\mathbf{v})$
Beaked W.	Up	12	2.08	2212
spp	Low	16	2.38	2212
	Dup	5	2.20	(0.15)
Offshore	Up	6	18.5	2942
Bottlenose	Low	7	12.9	(0.42)
D.	Dup	4	19.0	
Bottlenose	Up	0	-	202
W.	Low	3	4.3	(1.24)
	Dup	0	-	(1.34)
Common	Up	10	14.5	2259
D.	Low	8	12.8	3258
	Dup	6	16.2	(0.47)
Risso's D.	Up	10	8.3	1000
	Low	8	5.3	1882
	Dup	6	11.5	(0.38)
Kogia spp.	Up	6	1.8	100
0 11	Low	3	1.7	133
	Dup	0	-	0.43)
Pilot W.	Up	14	10.1	2122
spp.	Low	13	11.8	2123
	Dup	9	14.1	(0.24)
Sperm W.	Up	40	1.8	1010
1	Low	39	1.6	1918
	Dup	21	1.9	(0.08)
Spotted D.	Up	6	16.8	2126
1	Low	4	18.3	2136
	Dup	4	26.3	(0.35)
Striped D.	Up	21	84.0	40.000
1	Low	31	58.3	48,388
	Dup	20	61.8	(0.05)
Unid	Up	9	1.0	00
Large W.	Low	2	1.0	99
	Dup	0	-	(0.47)
Total	-			65,383
		-	-	(0.05)

Table 13. 2004 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum.

Shelf East							
Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundanca			
		of	group	(CV)			
		groups	size	$(\mathbb{C}\mathbf{V})$			
Beaked	Up	3	4.3	216			
W. spp	Low	5	2.8	(0.66)			
	Dup	2	5.5	(0.00)			
Offshore	Up	9	13.2	2721			
Bottlenose	Low	14	12.4	2/21			
D.	Dup	7	12.4	(0.49)			
Common	Up	32	29.6	14 727			
D.	Low	42	27.9	(0, 24)			
	Dup	24	34.3	(0.24)			
Fin or Sei	Up	8	1.1	00			
whale	Low	14	1.1	(0.15)			
	Dup	6	1.2	(0.15)			
Risso's D.	Up	12	4.5	2224			
	Low	27	5.0	3234			
	Dup	9	4.6	(0.39)			
Humpback	Up	2	1.0	15			
W.	Low	2	1.0	15			
	Dup	2	1.0	(0.52)			
Pilot W.	Up	11	6.5	2204			
spp.	Low	17	16.1	(0.42)			
	Dup	7	8.0	(0.43)			
Sei whale	Up	0	-	7			
	Low	1	1.0	(1.24)			
	Dup	0	-	(1.34)			
Sperm W.	Up	1	3.0	27			
•	Low	1	1.0	(1 00)			
	Dup	0	-	(1.06)			
Striped D.	Up	3	35.0	1005			
1	Low	3	51.7	1005			
	Dup	3	51.7	(0.79)			
Unid	Up	5	1.0	457			
Large W.	Low	10	1.0	457			
L L	Dup	2	1.0	(0.39)			
Total	-			24,722			
		-	-	(0.17)			

Table 13. Continued. 2004 shipboard abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum.

Shelf West

Species	Team	Num	Avg	Abundance
		of	group	(CV)
		groups	size	$(\mathbf{C}\mathbf{V})$
Beaked	Up	3	2.0	12
W. spp	Low	1	2.0	(1.02)
	Dup	0	-	(1.08)
Offshore	Up	8	18.0	2200
Bottlenose	Low	12	8.9	(0.48)
D.	Dup	5	8.4	(0.48)
Common	Up	23	21.1	(99)
D.	Low	35	30.7	6886
	Dup	18	26.2	(0.33)
Fin or Sei	Up	2	1.5	50
W.	Low	6	1.0	50
	Dup	1	1.0	(0.60)
Risso's D.	Up	23	15.1	5090
	Low	38	10.6	5089
	Dup	17	17.7	(0.26)
Pilot W.	Up	0	-	20
spp.	Low	1	16.0	38
	Dup	0	-	(1.42)
Sperm W.	Up	14	1.4	220
•	Low	20	1.4	329
	Dup	6	1.3	(0.34)
Striped D.	Up	3	50.3	11/1
-	Low	5	31.0	1101
	Dup	2	55.0	(0.92)
Unid	Up	0	-	2
Large W.	Low	1	1.0	3
-	Dup	0	-	(1.56)
Total	-			15,959
		-	-	(0.19)

Species Team Num Avg Abundance of group (CV) size groups Beaked Up 8 2.6 251 W. spp Low 9 2.7 (0.49)5 3.2 Dup Offshore 8 13.0 Up 1364 Bottlenose Low 12 9.8 (0.51)Dup 6 10.3 D. Common Up 15 49.8 10,382 D. Low 15 66.5 (0.32)Dup 8 59.5 Fin or Sei Up 1 1.0 7 whale Low 1 1.0 (0.99)Dup Risso's D. 30 Up 7.4 4,828 Low 48 12.1 (0.25)17 18.1 Dup Humpback Up 1 1.0 9 W. 2 Low 1.0 (0.87)1 1.0 Dup Kogia spp. Up 5 1.2 225 Low 3 1.0 (1.14)1.0 Dup 1 Pilot W. 12.3 Up 6 323 spp. Low 8 11.8 (0.57)5 16.6 Dup Sperm W. 15 Up 2.1 333 Low 21 1.6 (0.40)8 2.0 Dup Spotted D. 1 72.0 Up 1,442 3 35.3 Low (0.83)50.0 Dup 1 Striped D. 3 77.0 Up 1,500 Low 5 44.2 (0.74)2 Dup 99.0 5 Unid Up 1.0 17 Large W. Low 1 1.0 (0.96) 0 Dup Total 20,681 ---

(0.19)

Shelf (	Central
---------	---------

Table 14. 2004 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum. N = number of groups. S=average group size. sm= small groups ( $\leq$ 5), lg = large groups ( $\geq$ 5). SL = leading and single portion of the track line. Trail = trailing portion of track line. Dup = sightings detected on both the leading and trailing portions of the track line, that is, duplicates sightings.

Gulf of Maine North

Species	Team	N		S		Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	lg	(CV)
Fin or Sei	SL	1	0			71
W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 21)
	dup	0	0			(1.21)
Harbor	SL	44	0			27.224
porpoise	trail	4	0	1.6	-	27,224
	dup	2	0			(0.70)
Humpback	SL	1	0			29
W.	trail	1	0	1.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	1	0			(1.15)
Minke W.	SL	4	0			145
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.55)
	dup	0	0			(0.55)
Unid W.	SL	3	0			00
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.82)
	dup	0	0			(0.83)
Total	-					27,576
		-	-	-	-	(0.69)

	dup	0	0			
Unid D.	SL	3	2			1079
	trail	1	0	2.3	10.5	(0.62)
	dup	0	0			(0.03)
Unid W.	SL	3	0			106
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.78)
	dup	0	0			(0.78)
Whitesided	SL	0	1			603
D.	trail	0	1	-	8.0	(1 01)
	dup	0	1			(1.01)
Total	-					32,769
		-	-	-	-	(0.5)

Species	Team		N		S	Abun
_		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Common	SL	12	14			0001
D.	trail	7	0	2.8	12.9	8891 (0.42)
	dup	3	0			(0.42)
Fin W.	SL	7	0			724
	trail	0	0	1.7	-	(0.82)
	dup	0	0			(0.82)
Fin or Sei	SL	3	0			221
W.	trail	0	0	1.3	-	(0.86)
	dup	0	0			(0.80)
Minke W.	SL	1	0			20
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	0	0			(1.15)
Pilot W.	SL	3	1			1044
	trail	0	0	2.3	7.0	1044
	dup	0	0			(0.80)
Right W.	SL	1	0			100
-	trail	1	0	3.0	-	(0,00)
	dup	0	0			(0.99)
Sei W.	SL	1	0			200
	trail	0	0	3.0	-	200
	dup	0	0			(0.99)
Unid. W.	SL	4	0			126
	trail	0	0	1.3	-	(0, 70)
	dup	0	0			(0.70)
Whitesided	SL	0	2			2102
D.	trail	0	0	-	17.0	(1 14)
	dup	0	0			(1.14)
Total	-					13,536
		-	-	-	-	(0.34)

Gulf	of Maine	Central
Oun	or manie	Contrai

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
_		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Beaked W.	SL trail	2	0	1.0		147
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.86)
G	dup	0	0			· · /
Common	SL	3	4		1.5.0	3793
D.	trail	0	0	2.3	15,8	(0.64)
	dup	0	0			(0.0.1)
Fin W.	SL	5	0			429
	trail	2	0	1.0	-	(0.68)
	dup	1	0			(0.00)
Fin or Sei	SL	3	0			300
W.	trail	0	0	1.3	-	(0.05)
	dup	0	0			(0.95)
Harbor	SL	37	1			25.028
porpoise	trail	4	0	1.5	15.0	25,028
	dup	2	0			(0.05)
Humpback	SL	1	0			41
W.	trail	1	0	1.0	-	(1 12)
	dup	0	0			(1.13)
Pilot W.	SL	0	1			074
	trail	0	0	-	14.0	8/4 (1.01)
	dup	0	0			(1.01)
Right W.	SL	2	0			177
_	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(0.96)
	dup	0	0			(0.80)
Sei W.	SL	1	0	1.0		94
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.13)

Table 14. Continued. 2004 aerial abundance estimates (and its components) for each species within each NE OPAREA stratum. N = number of groups. S=average group size. sm= small groups ( $\leq$ 5), lg = large groups ( $\geq$ 5). SL = leading and single portion of the track line. Trail = trailing portion of track line. Dup = sightings detected on both the leading and trailing portions of the track line, that is, duplicates sightings.

Georges	BankW	est

Species	Team	Ν			S	Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Common	SL	2	6			5 262
D.	trail	0	0	3.0	17.7	3,203
	dup	0	0			(0.80)
Fin W.	SL	1	0			157
	trail	0	0	2.0	-	(1 17)
	dup	0	0			(1.17)
Total	-					5420
		-	-	-	-	(0.84)

Shelf East

		r				
Species	Team	Ν		S		Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Common	SL	6	2			12 022
D.	trail	0	0	2.7	6.5	(0,50)
	dup	0	0			(0.39)
Minke	SL	1	0			212
W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.47)
	dup	0	0			(1.47)
Total	-					13,245
		-	-	-	-	(0.58)

Georges Bank Cemtral

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Common	SL	3	12			11 551
D.	trail	0	0	4.0	19.6	(0.47)
	dup	0	0			(0.47)
Humpback	SL	6	0			227
W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.08)
	dup	0	0			(1.08)
Pilot W.	SL	9	4			4 412
	trail	3	0	1.9	9.3	4,412
	dup	2	0			(0.49)
Unid. D.	SL	0	3			1 277
	trail	0	0	-	17.3	(0.87)
	dup	0	0			(0.87)
Total	-					17,567
		-	-	-	-	(0.34)

#### MidAtlantic

Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Bottlenose	SL	5	0			270
D.,	trail	0	0	1.8	-	$\frac{5}{0}$
offshore	dup	0	0			(0.00)
Minke W.	SL	1	0			55
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 14)
	dup	0	0			(1.14)
Unid W.	SL	1	0			40
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.27)
	dup	0	0			(1.27)
Total	-					474
		-	-	-	-	(0.55)

#### Georges Bank East

8						
Species	Team		N		S	Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Common	SL	8	6			10.020
D.	trail	0	0	2.3	15.0	(0.48)
	dup	0	0			(0.48)
Fin W.	SL	1	0			140
	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1 1 4)
	dup	0	0			(1.14)
Fin or	SL	1	0			124
Sei W.	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.14)
	dup	0	0			(1.14)
Harbor	SL	1	0			720
porpoise	trail	0	0	1.0	-	(1.1.4)
	dup	0	0			(1.14)
Pilot W.	SL	5	1			4 709
	trail	1	0	3.2	6.0	4,708
	dup	0	0			(0.78)
Total	-					16,660
		-	-	-	-	(0.39)

Scotian						
Species	Team		Ν		S	Abun
		Sm	Lg	Sm	Lg	(CV)
Common	SL	1	0			1 0 1 5
D.	trail	0	0	4.0	-	(1,11)
	dup	0	0			(1.11)
Humpback	SL	2	0			501
W.	trail	0	0	1.5	-	(1 22)
	dup	0	0			(1.23)
Unid W.	SL	1	0			420
	trail	0	0	3.0	-	(1.18)
	dup	0	0			(1.18)
Total	-					2,745
		-	-	-	-	(0.79)



Figure 1. NE OPAREA, strata defined by Navy. Depth contours are labeled.

Figure 2. Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 1998 abundance surveys. Track line colors differ for each NE OPAREA. Tracks lines (solid line) in the Offshore and three Shelf (ShelfE, ShelfC, and ShelfW) strata were surveyed by a ship. Track lines (hashed) in the Mid-Atlantic stratum were surveyed by plane.



Figure 3. Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 1999 abundance surveys. Track line colors differ for each NE OPAREA. Tracks lines (solid line) in the coastal portion of the Gulf of Maine central (GOMC), northern portion of the Scotian stratum, and the Gulf of Maine north (GOMN) stratum were surveyed by ship. Track lines (hashed) in two of the Georges Bank strata (GeorgesE and GeorgesC), the central portion of the GOMC, and the southern portion of the Scotian strata were surveyed by plane.



Figure 4. Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 2004 abundance survey. Track line colors differ for each NE OPAREA. Tracks lines in the Offshore and three Shelf strata were surveyed by ship, other track lines were surveyed by plane.





Figure 5. Track lines within the NE OPAREAs covered during the 2002 aerial abundance survey. Track line colors differ for each NE OPAREA.

Figure 6. Diagram of how the circle-back technique was performed.



	Abundance estimate						
Species	1998	1998	1999	1999	2002	2004	2004
	plane	ship	plane	ship	plane	plane	ship
Beaked W.		2,882			688	147	2,692
Kogia spp.		115					358
Offshore Bottlenose D.	13,074	6,073			4,279	370	9,416
Common D.		11,349			6,897	55,284	35,263
Striped D.		41,770					52,055
Spotted D.		32,043					3,578
Risso's D.		16,091			10,210		15,053
Pilot W. spp.		4,451			7,194	11,039	4,689
Whitesided D.	199		30,850	20,727	76,985	2,795	
UID D.					5,240	2,454	
Harbor P.			52,982	64,759	46,014	52,982	
Sperm W.		3,199			402		2,607
Fin W.	62	351	814	620	2,187	1,469	
Sei W.				94	57	294	7
Fin or Sei W.				172	212	734	156
Humpback W.			130	686	1,073	808	24
Minke W.				2,004	401	441	
Right W.				194	172	367	
Bottlenose W.							292
UID W.					436	808	576

**Appendix I.** Original abundance estimates by year and platform.

**Clearance:** All manuscripts submitted for issuance as CRDs must have cleared the NEFSC's manuscript/abstract/webpage review process. If any author is not a federal employee, he/ she will be required to sign an "NEFSC Release-of-Copyright Form." If your manuscript includes material lifted from another work which has been copyrighted, then you will need to work with the NEFSC's Editorial Office to arrange for permission to use that material by securing release signatures on the "NEFSC Use-of- Copyrighted-Work Permission Form."

**Organization:** Manuscripts must have an abstract and table of contents, and — if applicable — lists of figures and tables. As much as possible, use traditional scientific manuscript organization for sections: "Introduction," "Study Area"/ "Experimental Apparatus," "Methods," "Results," "Discussion" and/or "Conclusions," "Acknowledgments," and "Literature/References Cited."

**Style:** The CRD series is obligated to conform with the style contained in the current edition of the *United States Government Printing Office Style Manual*. That style manual is silent on many aspects of scientific manuscripts. The CRD series relies more on the *CBE/CSE Style Manual*. Manuscripts should be prepared to conform with these style manuals.

The CRD series uses the American Fisheries Society's guides to names of fishes, mollusks, and decapod crustaceans, the Society for Marine Mammalogy's guide to names of marine mammals, the Biosciences Information Service's guide to serial title abbreviations, and the International Standardization Organization's guide to statistical terms.

For in-text citation, use the name-date system. A special effort should be made to ensure that all necessary bibliographic information is included in the list of cited works. Personal communications must include date, full name, and full mailing address of the contact.

**Preparation:** Type a clean/neat, single-spaced version of the document. The document must be paginated continuously from beginning to end and must have a "Table of Contents." Begin the preliminary pages of the document - always the "Table of Contents" - with page "iii." Begin the body of the document - normally the "Introduction" - with page "1," and continuously paginate all pages including tables, figures, appendices, and indices. You can insert blank pages as appropriate throughout the document, but account for them in your pagination (e.g., if your last figure ends on an odd-numbered/right-hand page such as "75," and if your next page is the first page of an appendix, then you would normally insert a blank page after the last figure, and paginate the first page of the appendix as "77" to make it begin on an odd-numbered/right-hand page also). Forward the final version to the Editorial Office as both a paper copy and electronically (i.e., e-mail attachment, 3.5inch floppy disk, high-density zip disk, or CD). For purposes of publishing the CRD series only, the use of Microsoft Word is preferable to the use of Corel WordPerfect.

**Production and Distribution:** The Editorial Office will develop the inside and outside front covers, the inside and outside back covers, and the title and bibliographic control pages (pages "i" and "ii") of the document, then combine those covers and preliminary pages with the text that you have supplied. The document will then be issued online.

Paper copies of the four covers and two preliminary pages will be sent to the sole/senior NEFSC author should he/she wish to prepare some paper copies of the overall document as well. The Editorial Office will only produce three paper copies (*i.e.*, two copies for the NEFSC's libraries and one copy for its own archives) of the overall document.

A number of organizations and individuals in the Northeast Region will be notified by e-mail of the availability of the online version of the document. The sole/ senior NEFSC author of the document will receive a list of those so notified. Research Communications Branch Northeast Fisheries Science Center National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA 166 Water St. Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026

#### MEDIA MAIL

## Publications and Reports of the Northeast Fisheries Science Center

The mission of NOAA's National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) is "stewardship of living marine resources for the benefit of the nation through their science-based conservation and management and promotion of the health of their environment." As the research arm of the NMFS's Northeast Region, the Northeast Fisheries Science Center (NEFSC) supports the NMFS mission by "conducting ecosystem-based research and assessments of living marine resources, with a focus on the Northeast Shelf, to promote the recovery and long-term sustainability of these resources and to generate social and economic opportunities and benefits from their use." Results of NEFSC research are largely reported in primary scientific media (*e.g.*, anonymously-peer-reviewed scientific journals). However, to assist itself in providing data, information, and advice to its constituents, the NEFSC occasionally releases its results in its own media. Currently, there are three such media:

*NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE* -- This series is issued irregularly. The series typically includes: data reports of longterm field or lab studies of important species or habitats; synthesis reports for important species or habitats; annual reports of overall assessment or monitoring programs; manuals describing program-wide surveying or experimental techniques; literature surveys of important species or habitat topics; proceedings and collected papers of scientific meetings; and indexed and/or annotated bibliographies. All issues receive internal scientific review and most issues receive technical and copy editing.

*Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document* -- This series is issued irregularly. The series typically includes: data reports on field and lab studies; progress reports on experiments, monitoring, and assessments; background papers for, collected abstracts of, and/or summary reports of scientific meetings; and simple bibliographies. Issues receive internal scientific review, but no technical or copy editing.

*Resource Survey Report* (formerly *Fishermen's Report*) -- This information report is a quick-turnaround report on the distribution and relative abundance of selected living marine resources as derived from each of the NEFSC's periodic research vessel surveys of the Northeast's continental shelf. There is no scientific review, nor any technical or copy editing, of this report.

**OBTAINING A COPY:** To obtain a copy of a *NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE* or a *Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document*, or to subscribe to the *Resource Survey Report*, either contact the NEFSC Editorial Office (166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026; 508-495-2350) or consult the NEFSC webpage on "Reports and Publications" (*http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/*).

ANY USE OF TRADE OR BRAND NAMES IN ANY NEFSC PUBLICATION OR REPORT DOES NOT IMPLY ENDORSE-MENT.